

Cornerstone: A Collection of Scholarly and Creative Works for Minnesota 🖉 Minnesota State University mankato State University, Mankato

All Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Other Capstone Projects

Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Other Capstone Projects

Minnesota State University, Mankato

2016

Differential Gene Expression of Minnesota (MN) Hygienic Honeybees (Apis mellifera) Performing Hygienic Behavior

Eric Northrup Minnesota State University Mankato

Follow this and additional works at: https://cornerstone.lib.mnsu.edu/etds

🗳 Part of the Bioinformatics Commons, Entomology Commons, and the Genetics Commons

Recommended Citation

Northrup, E. (2016). Differential Gene Expression of Minnesota (MN) Hygienic Honeybees (Apis mellifera) Performing Hygienic Behavior [Master's thesis, Minnesota State University, Mankato]. Cornerstone: A Collection of Scholarly and Creative Works for Minnesota State University, Mankato. https://cornerstone.lib.mnsu.edu/etds/619/

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Other Capstone Projects at Cornerstone: A Collection of Scholarly and Creative Works for Minnesota State University, Mankato. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Graduate Theses, Dissertations, and Other Capstone Projects by an authorized administrator of Cornerstone: A Collection of Scholarly and Creative Works for Minnesota State University, Mankato.

Differential gene expression of Minnesota (MN) Hygienic honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) performing hygienic behavior

By

Eric Northrup

A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Masters of Science

In

Biological Sciences

Minnesota State University, Mankato

Mankato, Minnesota

April 2016

Differential gene expression of MN Hygienic honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) performing hygienic behavior

Eric Northrup

This thesis has been examined and approved by the following members of the student's committee.

Dr. Daniel Toma (Advisor)

Dr. Geoffery Goellner

Dr. Marilyn Hart

Defended: December 8th 2015

Abstract

Hygienic behavior is the ability to remove dead and diseased brood from the comb early as to limit the detrimental impact of the parasite or pathogen. Minnesota (MN) Hygienic bees are generalists of hygienic behavior with the ability to remove several brood infected with several pathogens including the Varroa mite. This study explored the mechanisms of MN Hygienic behavior by comparing the transcriptome of MN Hygienic bee brains to non-hygienic bee brains via cDNA microarray. The results suggest that the brains of MN Hygienic bees may have a greater number of dendritic connections or are more sensitive to neurotransmitters. Quantitative trait loci studies of MN Hygienic bees indicated three regions on chromosomes two, five and thirteen which may be responsible for the behavior. Genes from these quantitative trait loci were isolated based on olfaction as MN Hygienic bees have been linked to greater ability to discriminate between olfactory cues. However, none of the olfactory related genes indicated the quantitative trait loci were found to be differentially expressed in MN Hygienic bee brains. These results bring new understanding of the role the brain plays in MN Hygienic behavior. Results provide insight on potential candidate genes, including *XM_393199, XM_001120874, XM_392202* and *XM_624940* to utilize for the breeding of bees hardy enough to handle a variety of invading parasites and pathogens.

Table of contents

Introduction	1
Methods	6
Results	22
Discussion	82
Reference	92

Figure and tables index

Table 1.1. Amount and date of non-hygienic bees marked and introduced into their respective observational hives
Table 1.2. Amount and date of hygienic bees marked and introduced into their respective observational hives
Table 1.3. Hygienic bee brains, age (in days) and colony of origin utilized in pairings
Table 1.4. Non-hygienic bee brains, age (in days) and colony of origin utilized in pairings
Table 1.5. Genes utilized in verifying the microarray, their fold change, and their p-value
Table 1.6. Forward and reverse primers for the genes selected for qPCR verification of the microarray
Table 1.7. Reverse transcription thermocycler protocol
Table 1.8. GoScript [™] reaction mix15
Table 1.9. RNA and reverse transcription primer mix
Table 1.10. PCR mix utilized to verify amplicon size
Table 1.11. PCR Size verification thermocycler conditions
Figure 1.1. Hi-Lo ladder from Bionexus (Oakland, CA) on a 1.2% agarose gel (image provided by https://www.bionexus.net/product/BN2050.html)16
Figure 1.2. 1kb Ladder from New England Biosciences (Ipswich, MA) on a 0.8% agarose gel (provided by https://www.neb.com/products/n3232-1-kb-dna-ladder)17

Table 1.12. cDNA Dilution scheme for qPCR
Table 1.13. qPCR reaction components per well
Table 2.1. Spectrophotometry data of RNA extraction including Concentration,absorbance at 260, 280 and 320 nm
Figure 2.1. 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis of samples and a 1kb DNA Ladder24
Figure 2.2. 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis of samples and a 1kb DNA Ladder25
Figure 2.3. Two percent agarose gel electrophoresis PCR amplicon size validation26
Table 2.2. NCBI predicted amplicon size for the primers utilized
Table 2.3. Teitjen-Moore test for outliers
Figure 2.4. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 135N bee brains with the β -actin primer
Figure 2.5. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 36N bee brains with the β -actin primer
Figure 2.6. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 86N bee brains with the β -actin primer
Figure 2.7. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 17H bee brains with the β -actin primer
Figure 2.8. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 85H bee brains with the β -actin primer

Figure 2.9. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 135N bee brains with the <i>ELF1-</i> α primer
Figure 2.10. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 36N bee brains with the <i>ELF1-</i> α primer
Figure 2.11. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 86N bee brains with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.12. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 17H bee brains with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.13. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 85H bee brains with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Table 2.4. Mean cycle threshold of genes β -actin and ELF1- α by colony and pairing33
Table 2.5. Fold change of β -actin and the mean hygienic and non-hygienic cycle threshold value for genes β -actin and ELF1- α
Figure 2.14. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1H pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer
Figure 2.15. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1N pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer
Figure 2.16. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2H pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer35
Figure 2.17. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2N pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer35

Figure 2.18. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3H pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer
Figure 2.19. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3N pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer
Figure 2.20. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4H pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer37
Figure 2.21. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4N pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer37
Figure 2.22. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5H pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer
Figure 2.23. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5N pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer
Figure 2.24. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6H pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer
Figure 2.25. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6N pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer
Figure 2.26. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7H pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer40
Figure 2.27. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7N pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer40
Figure 2.28. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8H pairing with the <i>2 pore K pump</i> primer41

Figure 2.29. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8N pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer
Figure 2.30. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1H pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.31. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1N pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.32. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2H pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.33. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2N pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.34. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3H pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.35. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3N pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.36. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4H pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.37. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4N pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.38. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5H pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.39. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5N pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer

Figure 2.40. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6H pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.41. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6N pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.42. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7H pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.43. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7N pairing the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.44. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8H pairing with the <i>ELF1-a</i> primer
Figure 2.45. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8N pairing with the <i>ELF1-</i> α primer
Table 2.6. Mean cycle threshold of genes 2 <i>pore K pump</i> and <i>ELF1-α</i> by colony and pairing
Table 2.7. Fold change of 2 <i>pore K pump</i> and the mean hygienic and non-hygienic cycle threshold value for genes 2 <i>pore K pump</i> and $ELF1-\alpha$
Figure 2.46. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1H pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.47. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1N pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.48. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2H pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer

Figure 2.49. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2N pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.50. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3H pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.51. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3N pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.52. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4H pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.53. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4N pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.54. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5H pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.55. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5N pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.56. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6H pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.57. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6N pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.58. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7H pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.59. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7N pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer

Figure 2.60. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8H pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Figure 2.61. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8N pairing with the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Table 2.8. Mean cycle threshold of genes <i>Pteropsin</i> and <i>ELF1-α</i> by colony and pairing
Table 2.9. Fold change of <i>Pteropsin</i> and the mean hygienic and non-hygienic cyclethreshold value for genes <i>Pteropsin</i> and <i>ELF1-a</i>
Figure 2.62. Comparison of fold changes between microarray and qPCR data of the three genes used to validate microarray data
Figure 2.63. Melt curve for wells containing the <i>Elf1-</i> α primer61
Figure 2.64. Melt curve for wells containing the β -actin primer
Figure 2.65. Melt curve for wells containing the <i>2 Pore K pump</i> primer
Figure 2.66. Melt curve for wells containing the <i>Pteropsin</i> primer
Table 2.10. Related GO terms of down-regulated orthologues from FATIGO64
Table 2.11. Related GO terms of up-regulated orthologues from FATIGO65
Table 2.12. Significance of overlap between MN Hygienic and Vibrating (Alaux et al. 2009a), or Alarm (Alaux et al. 2009b), or AHB guard (Alaux et al. 2009b), or AHB soldier (Alaux et al. 2009b), or AHB forager (Alaux et al. 2009b), VSH (Le Conte et al 2011), Uncappers (Gempe et al. 2012), or Geneotype mixing (Gempe et al. 2012), or Genotype mixing and uncapping (Gempe et al. 2012)
Table 2.13. Multiple shared probe IDs and their regulation of differentially expressed genes between MN Hygienic bees and other behavioral gene sets

Table 2.14. Shared probe IDs of differentially expressed genes between MN Hygienic and Vibrating bees (Alaux et al. 2009a)
Table 2.15. Probe IDs and their regulation of shared genes between MN Hygienic, Uncappers, Genotype mixing, and Genotype and uncapping (Gempe et al. 2012)71
Table 2.16. Shared probe IDs and their regulation of differentially expressed genesbetween MN Hygienic, Alarm, AHB Guard, AHB Soldier, and AHB Forager (Alaux etal. 2009b)
Table 2.17. Shared genes between Boutin hygienic (Boutin et al. 2015) and MN Hygienic
Table 2.18. Regulation of shared differentially expressed genes between MN Hygienic bee brains, VSH antenna (Mondet et al. 2015), VSH brains (Le Conte et al. 2011), Uncappers and Genotype and uncapping (Gempe et al. 2012)
Table 2.19. Differentially expressed genes present in differing confidence intervalsfound representing quantitative trait loci in MN Hygienic bees (Oxley et al. 2010)
Table 3.1. Down-regulated gene transcripts related to ribosomal constitutes
Table 3.2. Genes shared between MN hygienic and other Hygienic bee studies

Acronyms and abbreviations

Absorbance	A
Africanized honey bee	AHB
Base pair	bp
complementary Deoxyribose Nucleic Acid	cDNA
Cycle threshold	Ct
cyclic adenosine triphosphate	cAMP
Deoxyribose Nucleic Acid	DNA
Diacylgylcerol	DAG
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid	EDTA
gamma-Aminobutyric acid	GABA
Gene ontology term	GO Term
Hygenic	Нуд
Inositol triphosphate	IP3
Melting temperature	Tm
Minnesota	MN
National Center for Biotechnology Information	NCBI
Number	no.
quantitative real time Polymerase Chain Reaction	qPCR
Quantitative trait loci	QTL
Reporter fluorescence	R
Ribose Nucleic Acid	RNA
Ribose Nucleic Acid sequencing	RNA seq.
The slope of a line	m
Varroa sensitive hygienic	VSH

Introduction

The worldwide economic value of insect pollination services has been estimated at \$174 billion and accounts for 9.5% of the total value of the world's agricultural food production (Gallai et al. 2009). Because insect pollination services are primarily conducted by *Apis mellifera* or honeybees (Gallai et al. 2009), the agricultural and economic significance of the honey bee is great, as are threats to their success, such as colony collapse disorder and other sources of bee loss (Martin 2001; Ratnieks & Carreck 2010; Watanabe 1994). Of particular concern, honeybees may be more susceptible to disease compared to other insects because they are eusocial insect species (Johnson & Tsutsui 2011).

Eusocial insects have overlapping generations of adults; these adults are split into divisions by labor such as reproduction and cooperative brood care (Schmickl & Crailsheim 2007). Social life has consequences that are unique compared to solitary insects (Cremer et al. 2007; Wilson-Rich et al. 2009), for individual bees may benefit from efficient, collective acts like brood-care, foraging, and defense of the hive (Wilson-Rich et al. 2009; Fefferman et al. 2007). Conversely, the close living quarters potentially allow for infectious diseases and parasites to spread more easily (Perez-Sato et al. 2009).

Disease may spread more readily in social insects than solitary ones for reasons other than proximity and contact (Baalen & Beekman 2006; Cremer et al. 2007; Tarpy 2003). Individual bees have fewer immunity genes as solitary insects, rendering the immune system of each individual bee less capable of handling infections than solitary insects (Weinstock et al. 2006). Furthermore, the immunity genes present are likely to be shared by highly related sisters, this decrease in gene diversity can lead to more infections within the colony (Shykoff and Schmid-Hempel 1991). Despite the increased chance of infection, the worldwide success of bees suggests that the benefits of social living outweigh the potential for disease transmission (Moller 1996).

Bees and other eusocial insects have evolved specific behaviors to combat parasites and pathogens called social immunity (Cremer et al. 2007; Perez-Sato et al. 2009; Schmickl & Crailsheim 2007). Social immunity behaviors are often expressed by castes or groups of individuals who remove infectious agents, as well as diseased or dead individuals from the colony (Rothenbuhler 1964; Spivak & Gilliam 1998a; Wilson-Rich et al. 2009). This behavior has been known to target brood infected with the pathogens that cause American foulbrood, and chalkbrood (Palacio et al. 2010; Spivak & Reuter 2001; Spivak and Gilliam 1993), and the parasite Varroa destructor, which has been implicated as one of the potential causes for colony collapse disorder (Bromenshenk et al. 2010; Ibrahim et al. 2007; Le Conte et al. 2010; Martin et al. 2012). The two step process of hygienic behavior begins when hygienic bees detect and uncap cells that contain diseased or dead brood. After uncapping the cells, bees remove the dead or diseased pupae by consuming them (Arathi et al. 2006; Rothenbuhler 1964; Spivak & Gilliam 1998a). Bees typically perform this behavior between fourteen and twenty days of age (Perez-Sato et al. 2009; Spivak and Gilliam 1998b).

Although hygienic behavior is a genetic trait, the genes involved in its expression are unknown. Rothenbuhler (1964), described hygienic behavior to be a homozygous recessive trait on two chromosomes. Mortiz (1988) was one of the first to dispute Rothenbuhler's claim by utilizing Rothenbuhler's data and argued hygienic behavior fit a three loci model better than two. Since then, others have used quantitative trait loci to claim that six (Oxley et al. 2010) or seven loci (Lapidge et al. 2002) would best describe the genetic basis of hygienic behavior. The genes involved in hygienic behavior have been elusive for a number of reasons. First, not all bees within a hygienic colony are hygienic and second, there are several lines of hygienic behavior in existence that vary in expression.

The classification of the degree to which a colony is hygienic depends upon the colony's composition of hygienic individuals. Because queens mate with multiple males, it is possible to have varying ratios of hygienic bees in relation to the total population of a colony (Arathi & Spivak 2001; Panissiuk et al. 2008; Sherman et al. 1998). The ratio of hygienic bees within a colony determines the frequency and length of time spent per hygienic act for each hygienic individual. As such, a high ratio of hygienic individuals within the colony results in a lower frequency of performed hygienic acts and less time spent performing these acts per individual than a colony with a lower ratio of hygienic bees (Arathi and Spivak 2001; Perez-Sato et al. 2009). The resultant division of labor also means that colonies with low ratios of hygienic individuals tend have those individuals performing hygienic individuals (Perez-Sato et al. 2009). Having a smaller ratio of hygienic individuals also means that fewer hygienic acts can occur, thus potentially preventing a colony with hygienic bees to be considered hygienic.

Today, there are several lines of honeybees bees that have been selected for hygienic behavior, including "Minnesota (MN) Hygienic," and *Varroa* sensitive hygienic (VSH) formerly called, "suppression of mite reproduction," or SMR (Ibraham & Spivak 2006; Le Conte et al. 2011). MN Hygienic stock was imported from Italy and bred to prevent a wide range of pathogens and parasites (Spivak and Rueter 2001). VSH bees were imported from Russia and were bred to resist the parasitic mite *Varroa* (Danka et al. 2011). Despite their geographical origins, the behaviors exhibited in VSH and MN Hygienic are quite similar. However, VSH bees have a higher removal rate of the *Varroa* mite than MN Hygienic bees, which in turn are better at removing the individuals infected with chalkbrood and American foulbrood (Ibrahim & Spivak 2006). Therefore, it is possible that the mechanisms for each hygienic strain to detect diseased brood differ from each other (Le Conte et al. 2011).

Further differences exhibited between VSH and MN Hygienic lines are greater olfactory senses in MN Hygienic bees relative to non-hygienic bees (Arathi et al. 2000; Gramacho & Spivak 2003; Masterman 2000). The heightened olfactory sense has been hypothesized to be the method of detection behind the behavioral trait (Masterman 2001; Swanson et al. 2009). Spivak et al. (2003) linked hygienic behavior to an increase in the receptors of octopamine, the primary excitatory neurotransmitter in the bee brain. Octopamine is a molecule involved in coincide detection in which excitatory neurotransmission occurs due to two different neurotransmitters being released upon a neuron from a single stimulus causes an action potential that would not exist from either neurotransmitter alone. This is believed to be the mechanism for olfactory learning, thus reinforcing the idea that olfactory senses were at the root of hygienic behavior. However, Le Conte et al. (2011) found that the genes up-regulated for VSH bees are not yet linked to olfactory senses. Nor does the Le Conte et al. (2011) finding correspond with the quantitative trait loci findings of Oxley et al. (2010) which was conducted on MN Hygienic bees. MN Hygienic bees were found to have six quantitative trait loci by Oxley et al. 2010. Half of these were linked to uncapping, two were linked to all hygienic tasks and one to removing the brood. Quantitative trait loci performed upon VSH bees found two regions of interest, neither of which overlapped with the findings in Oxley et al. 2010.

The differences between quantitative trait loci of MN Hygienic bees and Le Conte et al.'s 2011 findings with VSH bees, paired with differences in removal efficiencies of various parasites, give cause to believe that they may have different genes involved in their regulation. To take an initial step in both understanding gene regulation underlying MN Hygienic bees and their differences with VSH bees, gene expression in the brains of bees from MN Hygienic and non-hygienic colonies was compared. Results from this comparison will then be compared to VSH bee brains (Le Conte et al. 2011). Due to differences of the behaviors, it is believed that the candidate genes for hygienic behavior between the lines are different.

Methods

Selection of hygienic hives

Selection of hygienic hives was determined via a series of freeze killed brood tests by Dr. Marla Spivak (University professor at University of Minnesota, St. Paul campus) and her associates during the fall of 2011. The criterion for hygienic hives was determined by how many sealed cells of brood comb were uncapped and or cleaned within 24 hours of applying liquid nitrogen to a 76.2 mm diameter circle of brood comb. Colonies were selected based upon their scores for hygienic behavior. Equal amount of both hygienic hives (>95% removed) and non-hygienic hives were needed (<80% removed).

Marking of bees for experimental research and placing them into observation hives

Brood frames of the desired bees were removed from their colonies, and the adult bees were removed from them. Frames were marked with the colony they originated from and placed into colony dependent incubators for eclosion. Day old bees from these frames were marked with a dot of enamel paint on their thorax to indicate their hygienic status and date eclosed according to standard protocol. (see Tables 1.1 and 1.2 for the painting schemes). Painted bees were moved directly to an observation hive which already had a hygienic colony present.

Cololly	Date of painting and adding	Number of	Color	Colony paired with in
	to observation hive	bees painted	painted	observation hive
36	9/2/11	300	Green	85
	9/6/11	361	Light	
			Blue	
	9/9/11	350	Purple	
86	9/2/11	400	Green	79
	9/6/11	350	Light	
			Blue	
	9/9/11	297	Purple	
135	9/2/11	384	Green	17
	9/6/11	336	Light	
			Blue	
	9/9/11	268	Purple	

Table 1.1. Amount and date of non-hygienic bees marked and introduced into their respective observational hives.

Table 1.2. Amount and date of hygienic bees marked and introduced into their respective observational hives.

Colony	Date of painting and adding	Number of	Color	Colony paired with in
	to observation hive	bees painted	painted	observation hive
85	9/2/11	328	Orange	36
	9/6/11	305	Yellow	
	9/9/11	266	Red	
79	9/2/11	400	Orange	86
	9/6/11	350	Yellow	
	9/9/11	350	Red	
17	9/2/11	316	Orange	135
	9/6/11	357	Yellow	
	9/9/11	339	Red	

Collecting hygienic and non-hygienic bees

The collections occurred on September 22nd, 25th, 27th, and the 28th 2011.

Collections began via insertion of a 76.2 mm diameter plug of frozen brood into a hole cut out of the brood frame of the observation hive (Spivak and Downey 1998). The plug

was monitored for bees to perform a hygienic act such as a quick back and forth motion of the head used to remove the wax cap of the brood cell. If the marked bee was of appropriate hygienic age (greater than fifteen days) and from a hygienic colony, it would be selected to be flash frozen into liquid nitrogen via vacuum. After the plug of dead brood was completely uncapped, the same number of non-hygienic bees at the same age were collected from the same observation colony. Bees would be transferred and kept in a -20°C freezer at the University of Minnesota until transported back to Minnesota State University, stored at -80°C until brain dissection.

Brain excision and pairings

Bee brains were removed from frozen bee heads on a plate cooled by dry ice (Toma et al. 2000). The removal of bee brains was conducted utilizing a clean, cold micro-scalpel and a clean, cold pair of tweezers. Brains were stored in marked, and sterile micro-centrifuge tubes which had been chilled. Bee brains were paired in an effort to keep variables such as age, and observation hives consistent. Each pairing consisted of three brains from hygienic bees, and three brains from non-hygienic bees (Tables 1.3 and 1.4).

Pair	Colony from which hygienic bee originated	Number of brains	Age of bee
1	17	3	15
2	85	3	20
3	17	3	18
4	85	3	17
5	85	3	21
6	85	2	17
	85	1	17
7	17	1	19
	17	1	21
	17	1	19
8	17	1	15
	17	1	20
	17	1	21

Table 1.3. Hygienic bee brains, age (in days) and colony of origin utilized in pairings.

Table 1.4. Non-hygienic bee brains, age (in days) and colony of origin utilized in pairings.

Pair	Colony from which hygienic bee originated	Number of brains	Age of bee
1	135	3	15
2	36	3	20
3	135	3	18
4	36	3	17
5	36	3	21
6	36	2	17
	36	1	17
7	135	1	19
	135	1	21
	135	1	19
8	135	1	15
	135	1	20
	135	1	21

RNA extraction/RNA purification

RNA extractions were conducted utilizing the protocol of Qiagen's (Hilden, Germany) RNeasy kit. Quiagen's Rneasy kit is a multiple step process involving lysing cells in a solution of Buffer RLT containing guanidine isothiocycanate a choatropic agent

which supports Nucleic acids binding to the silica utilized in the spin column. Buffer RLT also contains β -mercapthanol, a protective agent for newly released RNA, as it inactivates RNases present in the solution. Next ethanol is added to the solution to aid the Nucleic acids in binding to the silica, it does so by causing the nucleic acids precipitate in solution. The resultant supernatant is passed through a spin column containing silica and the prepared nucleic acids bind to the surface along with choatropic salts and other byproducts of cell lysis. Next is the introduction of Buffer RW1 which contains a mixture of guanidine salts and ethanol that eliminates carbohydrates, proteins fatty acids and other impurities not specifically bound to the silica. Buffer RPE is also drawn through the silica spin column to eliminate any extra salts that may be present from the nucleic acid extraction process, allowing for easier amplification later on. Nuclease free water is then drawn through the silica to elute out the nucleic acid due to its stronger inter molecular force. This procedure was performed upon paired pools of bee brains listed in Tables 1.3 and 1.4. Immediately after RNA extractions were complete, any possible remaining DNA was removed by digesting with Turbo DNA-free from Ambion of Life Technologies (St. Austin, Texas).

RNA concentrations and potential contaminations were assessed via spectrophotometry at 260, 280 and 320nm on an Eppendorf (Hamberg, Germany) BioPhotometer. Conducted by placing 98.0µL nuclease free water in a cuvette, blanking it, and then mixing 2.0µl of sample RNA to obtain the data in Table 2.1. Samples also were assessed via agarose gel electrophoresis, as described below. Samples were frozen at -80°C.

Agarose gel electrophoresis

Agarose gel electrophoresis was used as a secondary measure to validate amplicon size and visually inspect the results of the RNA extraction. Gels are prepared via mixing agarose (IBI Pesota, IA) and 60ml of 0.5x Tris-Borate EDTA (TBE) at one and a half percent agarose (0.9g) for RNA extraction inspection and two percent agarose (1.2g) for PCR amplicon validation. This mixture is weighed, and microwaved (LG Yeouido-dong, Seoul, South Korea) for about three minutes on high until the light reflecting particles have fully dissolved. The mixture is then weighed again and any difference in weight is compensated for via distilled water. This solution is allowed to cool on a benchtop for five to seven minutes, so that it is still molten but will not warp the mold. 0.5µL of Ethidium Bromide (IBI Pesota, IA) is added and homogenized into the gel. The gel is then poured into a mold and a ten well comb $(10\mu l)$ is inserted into the gel. After the gel solidifies the top of it is flooded with 0.5x TBE, the comb is removed, and the gel is positioned to be utilized in a gel electrophoresis box. The electrophoresis box is filled with 0.5x TBE until the surface of the gel has a centimeter of TBE covering it and two µl of Ethidium Bromide is inserted in the positive side of the box.

The gel is loaded 10 μ L of the ladder mixture of four μ l DNA ladder either New England Biosciences (Ipswich, MA) 1 Kilo-base (Kb) DNA ladder, or Bionexus (Oakland, CA) Hi-Lo, two μ L of 6x loading dye New England Biosciences (Ipswich, MA) and six μ L of nuclease free water. Samples are loaded the same way with four μ L of Sample, two μ L of 6x loading dye and six μ l of nuclease free water. Gels are ran at 100V until the loading dye is approximately three quarters of the way down the gel. Gels are carefully removed and placed upon a UV transilluminator (VWR Radnor, PA) set at 302 nanometers for interpretation.

cDNA microarray

cDNA microarrays were conducted by the Roy J. Carver Biotechnology Center at the University of Illinois. Each custom made Agilent microarray slide had 15,744 spots total, 459 positive controls, 77 negative controls and 15,208 spots interrogating bee genes. The 15,208 spots consisted of 11,730 bee genes tested once and 3,478 tested twice. They received eight hygienic and eight non-hygienic samples that were paired above as according to Tables 1.3 and 1.4.

Analysis of the microarray data was also conducted at Roy J. Carver Biotechnology Center. The data collected was analyzed utilizing limma (linear models for microarray data) as a statistical model (Ritchie et. al. 2015). The resultant raw pvalues were adjusted using a false discovery rate correction to correct for multiple comparison testing.

Selection of genes for microarray validation via quantitative real time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qPCR)

Selection of candidate genes for microarray validation was determined by p-value (p<0.05), fold change, and knowledge of a specific gene, or by its usage in other studies

(Table 1.5). Two genes that were not differentially expressed between hygienic and nonhygienic individuals were *Elongation Factor 1a-F2* (*EF-1a*), a housekeeping gene and β -actin, a gene that was differentially expressed (Le Conte et.al 2011.) *EF-1a* was chosen as a control, and β -actin as a gene that was equally expressed in both. *Pteropsin* and 2 pore K pump were chosen as they were two of the genes with the greatest positive fold change in the microarray.

Gene	NCBI reference	Gene	Fold Change Hygienic vs.	p-value
	sequence	Symbol	Non-hygienic	
2 pore K	XM_394509.2	LOC411036	1.938563924	0.00107
ритр				
Pteropsin	NM_001039968.1	LOC408985	1.445180415	0.01287
EF-lα	NM_001014993.1	EF1-alpha	-1.466110098	0.17043
β -actin	NM_001185145.1	Arp1	-1.040448396	0.95071

Table 1.5. Genes utilized in verifying the microarray, their fold change, and their p-value.

Primer designs

Primer designs were performed utilizing Applied Biosystems' Primer Express 3.0 (Foster City, CA) and gene sequences obtained from the National Center for Biotechnology Information's (NCBI) website. The primer pairs were given a penalty score based upon their length, composition, secondary structures, and potential dimers. Selected primers were chosen based upon having either the forward or reverse primer spanning an exon-exon junction, and having a penalty score of less than 200 if possible. The primers designed for the qPCR validation are indicated in Table 1.6. Primers were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, Missouri) or Integrated DNA Technologies (Coralville, Iowa) at Rp1 purification. Table 1.6 displays the sequences for each primer and the melting temperature (Tm) as calculated by Sigma Aldrich Pure and Simple

Primer designer at https://www.sigmaaldrich.com/.

Table 1.6. Forward and reverse primers for the genes selected for qPCR verification of the microarray.

Gene	Forward primer sequence 5' to 3'	Reverse primer sequence 5' to 3'	Tm in °C Forward / Reverse
2 pore K pump	AGGATGTCAGGCCTCAGAA	CGCAATCGTTAAGCAAGACAAG	66.6/66.0
Pteropsin	ATCCTGTCGCGATGGTCTCT	ACCAGGCGTACACACATTTTGT	66.1/65.3
EF-lα	CGTCTTCCTCTTCAGGACGTATATAA	AGGAGCGAATGTGACAACCAT	64.2/65.7
β -actin	AGGAATGGAAGCTTGCGGTA	AATTTTCATGGTGGATGGTGC	65.7/65.9

Reverse transcription

Reverse Transcription of the RNA was conducted via the standard protocol in Promega's (Madison, Wisconsin) GoTaq® 2-step RT-qPCR. For each sample, 10.0 ul of the GoScriptTM reaction mix (Table 1.8), and 10.0 μ l of the RNA and reverse transcription primer mix (Table 1.9) were combined and ran through the thermocycler conditions in Table 1.7. Random primers (Table 1.9) were utilized to transform experimental RNA in table into cDNA.

Table 1.7. Reverse transcription thermocycler protocol

Step	Temperature in °C	Duration	Frequency
Anneal	25	5	1x
Extend	42	1 hour	1x
Inactivate	70	15	1x
Chill	4	∞	1x

Table 1.8. GoScript[™] reaction mix

Component	Volume in µl
Nuclease free water	1.5
Goscript [™] 5x reaction buffer	4.0
MgCl2	2.0
PCR nucleotide mix	1.0
Recombinant RNasin [®] ribonuclease inhibitor	0.5
Go script reverse transcriptase	1.0

Table 1.9. RNA and reverse transcription primer mix

Component	Volume in µl
RNA sample	5.0
Random primer	1.0
Nuclease free water	4.0

Primer validation

To ensure that the primers selected efficacious, we tested primer specific amplicons resulting from PCR via gel electrophoresis and comparison to known DNA ladders. (See Table 1.10, and 1.11, as well as Figures 1.1 and 1.2). The conditions of the PCR reaction and the thermocycler are in Tables 1.10 and 1.11. The resulting samples from this procedure were ran on a two percent agarose gel as described earlier. Hi-Lo DNA ladder from Bionexus (Figure 1.1) and the 1Kb DNA ladder from New England Biosciences (Figure 1.2) were used to validate amplicon size.

Component	Volume in µl	Concentration
Colorless GoTaq	10.0	5x
Reaction Buffer		
PCR Nucleotide mix	0.8	-
GoTaq DNA	0.2	-
Polymerase		
Reverse Primer	1.1	10µM
Forward Primer	1.1	10µM
cDNA Sample	1.0	50ng/µl
Nuclease Free Water	35.8	-

Table 1.10. PCR mix utilized to verify amplicon size

Table 1.11. PCR Size verification thermocycler conditions

Cycle Temperature in °C		Duration in minutes	Frequency
Activation	95	10	1x
Amplification	95	1.0	40x
	60	0.25	
Chill	4	00	1x

Figure 1.1. Hi-Lo ladder from Bionexus (Oakland, CA) on a 1.2% agarose gel (image provided by https://www.bionexus.net/product/BN2050.html)



[1.2% Agarose gel]



Quantitative polymerase chain reaction

qPCR was conducted via Promega's GoTaq® 2-step RT-qPCR, on Applied Biosystems One Step Plus system. Data obtained was analyzed by StepOne Software version 2.3. cDNA was prediluted into nuclease free water to aid in streamlining the process (Table 1.3). Each well was prepared as described in Table 1.13.

		Initial concentration	Volume of	Volume of nuclease free	Final volume	Final concentration
Pair	Hygienic	(ng/µl)	sample (µl)	water (µl)	(µl)	(ng)
1	Н	552	2.7	12.3	15	100
	Ν	531	2.8	12.2	15	100
2	Н	150	10.0	5.1	15	100
	Ν	631	2.4	12.6	15	100
3	Н	367	4.1	10.9	15	100
	Ν	599	2.5	12.5	15	100
4	Н	175	8.6	6.4	15	100
	Ν	170	8.8	6.3	15	100
5	Н	260	5.8	9.2	15	100
	Ν	597	2.5	12.5	15	100
6	Н	342	4.4	10.6	15	100
	Ν	160	9.4	5.3	15	100
7	Н	260	5.8	9.2	15	100
	Ν	498	3.0	12.0	15	100
8	Н	290	5.2	9.8	15	100
	Ν	388	3.9	11.1	15	100

Table 1.12. cDNA Dilution scheme for qPCR

Table 1.13. qPCR reaction components per well

Component	Volume in µl	Initial concentration	Final concentration
Promega MasterMix	10.0	2x	1x
Reverse Primer	1.0	4µM	200nM
Forward Primer	1.0	$4\mu M$	200nM
cDNA Sample	8.0	100ng	40ng/µl

Melt Curves

Melt curves were conducted via Applied Biosystem's StepOne software v2.3. The procedure requires that after qPCR amplification that the wells utilized are heated in in increments of three tenths of a degree Celsius from 60.0°C to 94.8°C. During each incremental step the florescence of each well would be read. This data is transformed into the first negative derivative of fluorescence (Derivative reporter) and graphed to identify drops in fluorescence resulting from drops in double stranded DNA denaturation.

Statistical validation of microarray

Data was tested for outliers after log transforming the experimentally obtained Cycle threshold (Ct) values (Bengtsson et al. 2005; Limpert et al. 2001). These log transformed values was separated into colony and gene based groups to biological groups (to limit the number of variables), and from here the data was evaluated for normality. Should the group be considered normal, a box and whisker plot was used to identify any potential outliers. These groups were tested via a Grubbs test for one potential outlier or a Teitjen-Moore test for more than one potential outlier (Burns et al. 2005; Grubbs 1969; Teitjen and Moore 1972). Outliers was displayed and excluded from the data used.

The relative gene expression of hygienic bees was compared between microarray findings and qPCR findings for the chosen genes described above. Calculating relative gene expression from qPCR was done utilizing a $\Delta\Delta$ CT values of the mean expression of technical replicates of each gene. Fold change was calculated utilizing the $10^{\Delta\Delta$ Ct/m} method. This method equates for differences in primer efficiencies. If technical replicates have less than two samples per set, the biological replicates was used. Microarray was validated if the fold change is in the same direction as the microarray.

FATIGO analysis

Drosophila melanogaster orthologues were determined for the differentially expressed genes utilizing microarray design A-MEXP-755. These were validated and updated via the Upload/convert IDs tool at FlyBase <u>http://flybase.org</u> (Santos et al. 2015). Analysis of these ID's at <u>http://babelomics.bioinfo.cipf.es/</u> via the tool, FATIGO. FATIGO is utilized to minimize the effects of over-representation of Gene Ontology (GO) terms between two lists of genes (Al-Shahrour et al. 2007). Up-regulated genes, and down-regulated genes were run in separate analyses against the *Drosophila* genome. Duplicates from the differentially expressed genes were removed from the rest of the genome.

Comparisons between other studies

Comparisons between different microarray studies were performed to distinguish MN Hygienic behavior. Studies were chosen if they shared the same microarray design as this study (A-MEXP-755), and/or were chosen based upon Hygienic status such as for the Africanized bees. The studies utilized to help characterize MN Hygienic behavior were vibrating bees (Alaux et al. 2009a), VSH (Le Conte et al. 2011), Africanized Honey Bee (AHB) vs. European bees in the following roles: guard, soldier and forager, alarm pheromone bees (alarm) (Alaux et al. 2009b), as well as bees performing hygienic actions in a hygienic colony (uncappers), bees in a colony with hygienic and non-hygienic bees (genotype mixing), and uncappers from a mixed colony (genotype and uncapping) (Gempe et al. 2012). To compare the number of shared oligios that are differentially expressed both the representation factors and hypergeometric probability were calculated using formulas found in Kim et al. 2001 and Halbritter et al. 2013 respectively.

A comparison to the quantitative trait loci findings involved genes and the confidence intervals found in MN hygienic bees specified in Oxley et al 2010. A list of genes within the confidence interval range was identified utilizing NCBI's website. Genes shared between Oxley et al. 2010 and our differential gene sets were noted.

Comparisons between hygienic stocks of bees involved utilizing the RNA sequencing data of VSH bee antennae (Mondet et al. 2015), the RNA sequencing data of hygienic bees in Canada (Boutin et al. 2015), and microarray analysis of differential gene expression present in mixing hygienic and non-hygienic bees in the same colony (Tsuruda et al. 2012). The data from these sets were translated by A-MEXP-755, and NCBI's website into NCBI reference sequences (if needed). These NCBI reference sequences were used to compare the microarray findings to find out if the differentially expressed genes in the studies matched any of the differentially expressed genes in our data, and if they shared direction of expression.
Results

To identify differentially expressed genes in MN Hygienic honeybees, the extracted RNA from bee brains has to be high yield. The primers selected for qPCR verification of the microarray need to be sufficiently specific in their binding. qPCR results need to be checked for multiple melting points and microarray data and qPCR data must be in concert with one another. Below are the results from the tests utilized to ascertain this information.

RNA extraction

RNA extractions were checked via spectrophotometry to ascertain the quantity of RNA as well as the levels of contaminants. Table 2.1 displays the concentration, as well as the Absorbance (A) at 260, 280, 260/280, and 320nm of our RNA extractions.

Pair	Hygienic	Concentration (µg/mL)	A260/280	A260	A280	A320
1	Hygienic	552	1.92	0.276	0.144	0.004
	Non-hygienic	531	1.92	0.265	0.138	0.003
2	Hygienic	150	1.9	0.076	0.040	0.000
	Non-hygienic	631	1.93	0.316	0.164	0.002
3	Hygienic	367	1.91	0.184	0.096	0.002
	Non-hygienic	599	1.90	0.300	0.158	0.007
4	Hygienic	175	1.93	0.085	0.044	0.003
	Non-hygienic	170	1.9	0.086	0.045	0.000
5	Hygienic	260	1.9	0.130	0.070	0.007
	Non-hygienic	597	1.90	0.299	0.157	0.003
6	Hygienic	342	1.82	0.171	0.094	0.010
	Non-hygienic	160	1.8	0.077	0.042	0.002
7	Hygienic	260	1.9	0.142	0.075	0.001
	Non-hygienic	498	1.92	0.214	0.111	0.001
8	Hygienic	290	1.9	0.145	0.076	0.001
	Non-hygienic	388	1.90	0.194	0.102	0.002

Table 2.1. Spectrophotometry data of RNA extraction including Concentration, absorbance at 260, 280 and 320 nm.

RNA extractions were also checked via one and a half percent agarose gel electrophoresis, to validate that the extraction didn't yield anything unexpected. Two bands and a smear (other charged nucleic material) are present in each of the samples displayed in Figure 2.1 and Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.1. 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis of samples and a 1kb DNA Ladder.



Figure 2.2. 1.5% agarose gel electrophoresis of samples and a 1kb DNA Ladder.

Amplicon size verification

Agarose gel electrophoresis was used to ensure that PCR amplification using our primers yielded the desired size of amplicon and no other visible amplifications. This was performed via two percent agarose gel electrophoresis (Figure 2.3). Amplicon sizes were compared to two ladders, the Promega 1 Kilo-base pair (Kb) ladder and the Bionexus Hi-Lo ladder. Table 2.2 displays the NCBI predicted amplicon length for the primers utilized.



Figure 2.3. Two percent agarose gel electrophoresis PCR amplicon size validation.

|--|

Gene	NCBI Reference Sequence	Amplicon Length in bp
2 pore K pump	XM_394509.2	67
Pteropsin	NM_001039968.1	82
EF-1a	NM_001014993.1	108
β -actin	NM_001185145.1	181

MN Hygienic genes

616 of the 11,730 oligos tested in the microarray were differentially expressed between hygienic and non-hygienic bees at a false discovery rate of less than 0.05. Of these oligos, 335 were up-regulated and 281 were down-regulated. The span of up regulation was between 1.17 to 5.86 fold changes, while down-regulation spanned -14.31 to -1.14 fold changes. The findings of the microarray were verified before they are analyzed.

qPCR was used to verify the results of the microarray. Six data points were identified as outliers in the qPCR data and were removed (see Table 2.3). Removal of these outliers prevented utilizing samples within the *β*-actin gene set as a technical replicates as used for the *Pteropsin*, and *2 pore K pump*, instead it was handled as biological replicates for *β*-actin. Calculation of the corresponding fold changes was conducted via analyzing the cycle threshold data for *β*-actin (Figures 2.4 to 2.8), *EF*-1*α* (Figures 2.9 to 2.13 and Figures 2.30 to 2.45), *2 pore K pump* (Figures 2.14 to 2.29) and *Pteropsin* (Figures 2.46 to 2.61). The resulting fold changes displayed in Tables 2.5, 2.7 and 2.9 were calculated from mean cycle threshold values in Tables 2.4, 2.6 and 2.8. The resultant fold changes did not differ by more than one fold count for any of the genes tested between the microarray and qPCR data (Figure 2.62). 616 differentially expressed genes is unwieldy, to draw larger conclusions from this data grouping of genes needs to occur.

Colony	Gene	Ct	Log of	Shapiro-Wilk p value	Critical	Calculated	Number of
			Ct		value	value	outliers
135N	β -actin	14.83	2.70	0.332	0.097	0.038	6
		15.87	2.77				
		16.02	2.77				
		25.56	3.24				
		25.93	3.26				
		27.21	3.30				

Table 2.3. Teitjen-Moore test for outliers.



Figure 2.4. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 135N bee brains with the β -actin primer.



Figure 2.5. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 36N bee brains with the β -actin primer.



Figure 2.6. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 86N bee brains with the β -actin primer.



Figure 2.7. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 17H bee brains with the β -actin primer.



Figure 2.8. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 85H bee brains with the β -actin primer.



Figure 2.9. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 135N bee brains with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.10. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 36N bee brains with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.11. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 86N bee brains with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.12. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 17H bee brains with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.13. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing colony 85H bee brains with the *ELF1-a* primer.

Pairing	Colony	Mean Ct of β -actin	Mean Ct of <i>ELF1-</i> α
1H	17H	18.45	22.79
1N	135N	20.34	23.39
2H	85H	21.19	24.55
2N	36N	16.22	22.33
3H	17H	18.45	22.79
3N	135N	20.34	23.39
4H	85H	21.19	24.55
4N	36N	16.22	22.33
5H	85H	21.19	24.55
5N	86N	17.55	21.77
6H	85H	21.19	24.55
6N	86N	17.55	21.80
7H	17H	18.45	22.79
7N	135N	20.34	23.39
8H	17H	18.45	22.79
8N	135N	20.34	23.39

Table 2.4. Mean cycle threshold of genes β -actin and ELF1- α by colony and pairing.

Table 2.5. Fold change of β -actin and the mean hygienic and non-hygienic cycle threshold value for genes β -actin and ELF1- α .



Figure 2.14. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1H pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.15. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1N pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.16. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2H pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.17. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2N pairing the 2 *pore K pump* primer.



Figure 2.18. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3H pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.19. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3N pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.20. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4H pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.21. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4N pairing with the 2 *pore K pump* primer.



Figure 2.22. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5H pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.23. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5N pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.24. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6H pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.25. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6N pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.26. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7H pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.27. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7N pairing with the 2 *pore K pump* primer.



Figure 2.28. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8H pairing with the 2 *pore K pump* primer.



Figure 2.29. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8N pairing with the 2 pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.30. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1H pairing brains with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.31. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1N pairing with the *ELF1-* α primer.



Figure 2.32. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2H pairing with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.33. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2N pairing with the *ELF1-* α primer.



Figure 2.34. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3H pairing with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.35. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3N pairing with the *ELF1-* α primer.



Figure 2.36. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4H pairing with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.37. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4N pairing with the *ELF1-* α primer.



Figure 2.38. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5H pairing with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.39. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5N pairing with the *ELF1-* α primer.



Figure 2.40. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6H pairing with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.41. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6N pairing with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.42. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7H pairing with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.43. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7N pairing the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.44. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8H pairing with the *ELF1-a* primer.



Figure 2.45. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8N pairing with the *ELF1-* α primer.

Pairing	Colony	Mean Ct of 2 pore K pump	Mean Ct of <i>ELF1-</i> α
1H	17H	28.14	23.16
1N	135N	28.68	23.02
2H	85H	25.30	21.48
2N	36N	30.66	23.29
3H	17H	27.88	21.99
3N	135N	29.44	23.28
4H	85H	32.86	29.36
4N	36N	28.19	20.85
5H	85H	35.75	30.71
5N	86N	30.86	22.57
6H	85H	27.71	21.64
6N	86N	26.66	20.00
7H	17H	26.60	22.42
7N	135N	28.81	23.58
8H	17H	26.71	23.34
8N	135N	26.37	21.97

Table 2.6. Mean cycle threshold of genes 2 *pore K pump* and *ELF1-* α by colony and pairing.

Table 2.7. Fold change of 2 *pore K pump* and the mean hygienic and non-hygienic cycle threshold value for genes 2 *pore K pump* and *ELF1-\alpha*.

Gene	Mean hygienic Ct value	Mean non-hygienic Ct value	Fold Change
2 pore K pump	28.87	28.71	2.815
ELF1-α	24.26	22.32	



Figure 2.46. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1H pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.47. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 1N pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.48. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2H pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.49. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 2N pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.50. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3H pairing brains with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.51. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 3N pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.52. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4H pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.53. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 4N pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.54. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5H pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.55. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 5N pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.56. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6H pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.57. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 6N pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.58. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7H pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.59. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 7N pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.


Figure 2.60. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8H pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.



Figure 2.61. Cycle threshold vs. ΔR (reporter fluorescence) values of qPCR wells containing bee brains from the 8N pairing with the *Pteropsin* primer.

Pairing	Colony	Mean Ct of Pteropsin	Mean Ct of <i>ELF1-</i> α
1H	17H	26.95	23.16
1N	135N	26.15	23.02
2H	85H	24.20	21.48
2N	36N	27.99	23.29
3H	17H	25.47	21.99
3N	135N	26.64	23.28
4H	85H	32.76	29.36
4N	36N	25.61	20.85
5H	85H	32.66	30.71
5N	86N	28.49	22.57
6H	85H	27.15	21.64
6N	86N	26.00	20.00
7H	17H	27.80	22.42
7N	135N	28.61	23.58
8H	17H	28.21	23.34
8N	135N	27.45	21.97

Table 2.8. Mean cycle threshold of genes *Pteropsin* and *ELF1-\alpha* by colony and pairing.

Table 2.9. Fold change of *Pteropsin* and the mean hygienic and non-hygienic cycle threshold value for genes *Pteropsin* and *ELF1-\alpha*.

Gene	Mean hygienic Ct value	Mean non-hygienic Ct value	Fold Change
Pteropsin	28.15	27.12	1.853
ELF1- α	24.26	22.32	



Figure 2.62. Comparison of fold changes between microarray and qPCR data of the three genes used to validate microarray data.

Melt Curves

Melt curves were conducted to ensure that the qPCR procedure yielded only one amplicon. Figures 2.63 through 2.66 display the melt curves of each of the primers utilized as well as the average Tm or the melting temperature for each primer. These melting curves yielded one peak each and show no signs of a shoulder. The average Tm for *Elf1-a*, β -actin, *2 Pore K pump*, *and Pteropsin* amplicons was respectively 79.5, 79.9, 78.3 and 81.6°C.



Figure 2.63. Melt curve for wells containing the *Elf1-* α primer.



Figure 2.64. Melt curve for wells containing the β -actin primer.



Figure 2.65. Melt curve for wells containing the 2 Pore K pump primer.



Figure 2.66. Melt curve for wells containing the *Pteropsin* primer.

FATIGO analysis

To make sense of the 616 differentially expressed genes, orthologues for these genes were found and then placed into functional groups called GO terms. Analysis via FATIGO of the frequency and proportion of genes in each GO term allows for greater insight on the patterns of gene expression. One GO term linked to 37 orthologues was found to be significant (p < 0.05) in the orthologues of down-regulated genes (Table 2.10). Indicating down regulation of structural constitutes of the ribosome. When comparing orthologues of up-regulated genes, seven GO terms linked to a span between two and twelve orthologues were found to be significant (Table 2.11). All seven GO terms were related to transport mechanisms across membranes.

Name	Orthologues associated		NCBI Ref. Seq. ortholo	of Associated
Structural	0141010844			
constituent	FBgn0010408	FBgn0064225	XM_392988	XM_624617
of ribosome	FBgn0010411	FBgn0032987	XM_392726	XM_001120360
GO:0003735	FBgn0086710	FBgn0026372	XM_625101	XM_393135
p-value: 3.04E-36	FBgn0025286	FBgn0260460	XM_394854	XM_392037
-	FBgn0010198	FBgn0030616	XM_397314	XM_624868
	FBgn0005593	FBgn0015288	XM_003251102	XM_625006
	FBgn0019936	FBgn0031980	XM_393614	XM_394987
	FBgn0032050	FBgn0015521	XM_001120524	XM_623874
	FBgn0010078	FBgn0261602	XM_001122335	XM_393671
	FBgn0002626	FBgn0033912	XM_392812	XM_624648
	FBgn0002622	FBgn0261596	NM_001011587	XM_392330
	FBgn0002607	FBgn0014026	XM_623728	XM_393034
	FBgn0002579	FBgn0017579	XM_001119828	XM_392809
	FBgn0039406	FBgn0036825	XM_624256	XM_392059
	FBgn0003942	FBgn0013325	XM_001121176	XM_001121930
	- FBgn0003941	FBgn0024733	XM_397323	XM_393092
	FBgn0039757	FBgn0011272	XM_001120521	XM_624893
	FBgn0039713	FBgn0034138	XM_624940	XM_624035
	- FBgn00)39857	NM_001	011604

Table 2.10. Related GO terms of down-regulated orthologues from FATIGO.

Name	me Orthologues associated		NCBI Ref. Seq. of Associated orthologues		
Secondary active transmembrane	FBgn0026438	FBgn0037895	NM_001011597	XM_392977	
transporter activity	FBgn0024315	FBgn0037807	XM_393759	XM_623909	
GO:0015291	FBgn0040297	FBgn0037238	XM_391857	XM_624825	
p-value: 1.96E-03	FBgn0036240	FBgn0034911	XM_001122134	XM_394655	
	FBgn0039915	FBgn0033657	NM_001011643	XM_392656	
	FBgn0260795	FBgn0028704	XM_392582	XM_396230	
Organic acid : sodium	FBgn0026438	FBgn0037807	NM_001011597	XM_623909	
symporter activity GO:0005343 p-value: 3.38E-03	FBgn0039915	FBgn0034911	NM_001011643	XM_394655	
Sodium : amino acid symporter activity GO:0005283 p-value: 1.00E-02	FBgn0039915	FBgn0034911	NM_001011643	XM_394655	
Sodium ion transmembrane	FBgn0024315	FBgn0032946	XM_393759	XM_624825	
transporter activity	FBgn0040297	FBgn0037238	XM_391857	XM_394655	
GO:0015081	FBgn0039915	FBgn0034911	NM_001011643	XM_396230	
p-value: 1.00E-02	FBgn0037895	FBgn0028704	XM_392977	XM_623909	
	FBgn0	037807	XM_394381		
Anion : cation symporter	FBgn0024315	FBgn0037807	XM_393759	XM_623909	
activity	FBgn0039915	FBgn0034911	NM_001011643	XM_394655	
GO:0015296 p-value: 1.00E-02	FBgn0	037895	XM_392	XM_392977	
Solute : sodium symporter	FBgn0026438	FBgn0037895	NM_001011597	XM_392977	
activity	FBgn0024315	FBgn0037807	XM_393759	XM_623909	
GO:0015370	FBgn0039915	FBgn0034911	NM_001011643	XM_39465.	
p-value: 2.40E-02	-	-			
Anion transmembrane	FBgn0024315	FBgn0037895	XM_393759	XM_623909	
transporter activity	FBgn0036240	FBgn0037807	XM_001122134	XM_394655	
GO:0008509	FBgn0039915	FBgn0034911	NM_001011643	XM_392650	
p-value: 4.67E-02	FBgn0031064	FBgn0033657	XM_393071	XM_392582	
	FBgn0.	260795	XM_392	2977	

Table 2.11. Related GO terms of up-regulated orthologues from FATIGO.

Overlap between MN Hygienic bees and other behavioral gene sets

Comparisons of the brain genomic profile of MN Hygienic bees and other behavioral gene sets were used to characterize the transcriptome of MN Hygienic behavior. These other behavioral genes sets were also run on microarray A-MEXP 755, which allowed for the usage of hypergeometric probabilities. Hypergeometric probabilities takes into account the number of genes differentially expressed in each experiment and then calculates an expected number of these genes that would overlap. The result of comparing this expected result with the observed frequencies of overlap can give us a p-value of sharing the number of genes between gene sets. Significant p-values (p < 0.05) would indicate that the number of genes shared between the two gene sets exceeds that of the likelihood of chance and could indicate a relationship between the gene sets. Between two and 72 genes were shared between other behavioral gene sets and MN Hygienic bees, only the Vibrating gene set was found to be significant (Table 2.12). Analysis of direction of expression of these genes or probe ID's from these other behavioral gene sets follows in Table 2.13.

Table 2.12. Significance of overlap between MN Hygienic and Vibrating (Alaux et al. 2009a), or Alarm (Alaux et al. 2009b), or AHB guard (Alaux et al. 2009b), or AHB soldier (Alaux et al. 2009b), or AHB forager (Alaux et al. 2009b), VSH (Le Conte et al 2011), Uncappers (Gempe et al. 2012), or Geneotype mixing (Gempe et al. 2012), or Genotype mixing and uncapping (Gempe et al. 2012).

		Expected	Observed		
		no.	no.		
	Differentially	of genes	of		p-value from
Behavioral	expressed	to	overlapping	Representation	hypergeometric
gene set	genes	overlap	genes	factor	probability
Vibrating	903	47.417	72	1.5184	0.001
Alarm	437	22.947	18	0.7844	0.886
AHB guard	249	13.075	7	0.535	0.979
AHB soldier	538	28.251	20	0.708	0.964
AHB forager	58	3.046	2	0.657	0.816
VSH	39	2.0480	2	0.977	0.615
Uncappers	650	34.131	19	0.557	0.999
Genotype mixing	426	22.369	18	0.805	0.861
Genotype and uncapping	943	49.517	30	0.606	0.999

	MN Hygienic	Vibrating	Alarm	AHB Guard	AHB Soldier	AHB Forager	VSH	Uncapper	Genotype mixing	Genotype and uncannin
Probe ID		04						Š	Ũ	
AM05924	Up	Down	Down	-	Down	-	-	-	-	-
AM03995	Down	Down	Down	-	-	-	-	-	Down	-
AM07552	Down	Down	-	-	-	-	-	-	Down	Up
AM02847	Up	Up	Up	-	Up	-	-	-	-	-
AM08682	Up	Up	Up	-	-	-	-	Up	-	-
AM03333	Up	Up	-	-	Up	-	Down	-	-	-
AM05209	Down	-	Down	-	Down	-	-	-	Down	-
AM12302	Down	-	-	Down	Down	Down	-	-	-	-
AM07461	Up	-	-	-	Down	Down	-	-	-	-
AM01620	Up	Down	-	-	Down	-	-	-	-	-
AM03922	Down	Down	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Up
AM05125	Down	Down	-	-	-	-	-	-	Down	-
AM05837	Down	Down	-	-	-	-	-	Down	-	-
AM06691	Down	Down	-	-	-	-	-	Down	-	-
AM07577	Up	Down	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Up
AM08572	Up	Down	-	-	-	-	-	Down	-	-
AM08759	Up	Down	-	-	-	-	-	-	Down	-
AM10059	Down	Down	-	-	-	-	-	-	Down	-
AM10678	Down	Down	-	-	-	-	-	-	Down	-
AM04810	Down	Up	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Up
AM05377	Up	Up	-	-	-	-	-	Up	-	-
AM06745	Up	Up	-	-	Up	-	-	-	-	-
AM07022	Up	Up	Down	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
AM07388	Up	Up	Up	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
AM08469	Up	Up	Up	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
AM08968	Up	Up	-	-	Up	-	-	-	-	-
AM11549	Up	-	Up	-	-	-	-	Up	-	-
AM06519	Down	-	-	Down	Down	-	-	-	-	-
AM04560	Down	-	-	Down	Down	-	-	-	-	-
AM06729	Up	-	-	-	Down	-	-	-	-	Down
AM09569	Down	-	-	-	-	-	-	Down	-	Down
AM12635	Down	-	Up	-	-	-	-	-	-	Up
AM03355	Up	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Up	Down

Table 2.13. Multiple shared probe IDs and their regulation of differentially expressed genes between MN Hygienic bees and other behavioral gene sets.

Tables 2.13 through 2.16 display the direction of expression for genes or probe ID's shared between the behavioral gene sets utilizing microarray A-MEXP 755 and MN Hygienic bees. Analysis of these tables is taken on a per paper basis for each paragraph. Starting with the Vibrating bees of Alaux et al. 2009a and ending with VSH (Le Conte et al. 2011). Vibrating bees shared a significant number of differentially expressed genes with MN Hygienic bees. Of the 72 shared genes (Tables 2.13 and 2.14), 51 of them were regulated in the same direction.

There were a total of 67 genes were shared between our findings and those of Gempe et al. 2012. Tables 2.13 and 2.15 displays nineteen genes shared between uncappers, eighteen genes via genotypic mixing and 30 genes via the interactions between both uncapping and genotypic mixing. Amongst the shared genes, 35 of the 67 genes shared the same regulation direction as MN Hygienic.

Analysis of behavioral groups in Alaux et al. 2009b is conducted in Tables 2.13 and 2.16. Where alarm pheromone bees shared eighteen overlapping genes with MN Hygienic, seven of which were regulated in the same direction. Africanized honey bee guards shared five of their seven overlapping genes. AHB Soldiers shared the same directional regulation of twelve of their twenty overlapping genes and AHB foragers shared regulation in one of the two overlapping genes with MN Hygienic.

Le Conte et al. 2011 (VSH) had two genes overlap with MN Hygienic. Only one is present in Table 2.13. The other shared gene, probe ID AM03972, or NCBI reference

sequence XM_{624537} . Neither of these genes are regulated in the same direction as MN

Hygienic.

Table 2.14. Shared probe IDs of differentially expressed genes between MN Hygienic and Vibrating bees (Alaux et al. 2009a).

Probe ID	MN Hygienic	Vibrating	Probe ID	MN Hygienic	Vibrating
AM02647	Up	Down	AM03527	Up	Up
AM02722	Down	Down	AM03993	Up	Up
AM02880	Up	Down	AM04434	Up	Up
AM02983	Down	Down	AM04457	Up	Up
AM04327	Up	Down	AM04459	Up	Up
AM04761	Down	Down	AM04626	Up	Up
AM04903	Down	Down	AM05193	Up	Up
AM05844	Down	Down	AM05415	Up	Up
AM06329	Down	Down	AM08227	Up	Up
AM06339	Down	Down	AM08330	Up	Up
AM06412	Down	Down	AM08958	Up	Up
AM06714	Down	Down	AM09302	Úp	Úp
AM06721	Down	Down	AM10071	Úp	Up
AM07733	Down	Down	AM11372	Úp	Up
AM07889	Up	Down	AM11623	Down	Úp
AM07994	Down	Down	AM11916	Up	Up
AM08218	Up	Down	AM12195	Up	Up
AM09052	Down	Down	AM12271	Down	Úp
AM09128	Down	Down	AM12292	Up	Up
AM09491	Down	Down	AM12347	Up	Up
AM09826	Down	Down	AM12514	Úp	Up
AM10242	Down	Down	AM12743	Down	Úp
AM10325	Down	Down	AM07133	Up	Ûp
AM11993	Down	Down	AM11925	Úp	Úp
AM03116	Up	Up			*

Probe ID	MN Hygienic	Uncappers	Genotype mixing	Genotype and uncapping
AM03929	Up	Down	-	-
AM07443	Up	Up	-	-
AM11333	Up	Up	-	-
AM04773	Up	Down	-	-
AM12797	Down	Down	-	-
AM05180	Up	Up	-	-
AM07367	Up	Up	-	-
AM03374	Up	Up	-	-
AM02062	Down	Down	-	-
AM04461	Up	Up	-	-
AM08758	Up	Up	-	-
AM09471	Up	Down	-	-
AM12039	Down	-	Down	-
AM07814	Down	-	Down	-
AM09206	Down	-	Down	-
AM06183	Down	-	Down	-
AM11830	Down	-	Down	-
AM08221	Down	-	Down	-
AM12416	Up	-	Up	-
AM03225	Down	-	Down	-
AM11331	Down	-	Down	-
AM11298	Down	-	Down	-
AM08950	Up	-	-	Down
AM02972	Up	-	-	Down
AM03900	Down	-	-	Up
AM05497	Down	-	-	Down
AM08913	Up	-	-	Down
AM11104	Down	-	-	Down
AM08966	Up	-	-	Down
AM08419	Down	-	-	Down
AM08491	Up	-	-	Down
AM03657	Down	-	-	Down
AM11585	Down	-	-	Up
AM12282	Down	-	-	Up
AM10730	Down	-	-	Up
AM09993	Down	-	-	Up
AM08101	Up	-	-	Up
AM06196	Up	-	-	Ūp
AM02746	Up	-	-	Down
AM09067	Up	-	-	Down
AM11973	Up	-	-	Up
AM10203	Down	-	-	Down
AM05178	Up	-	-	Down
AM02013	Up	-	-	Down

Table 2.15. Probe IDs and their regulation of shared genes between MN Hygienic, Uncappers, Genotype mixing, and Genotype and uncapping (Gempe et al. 2012).

Probe ID	MN Hygienic	Alarm	AHB Guard	AHB Soldier	AHB Forager
AM04114	Up	Down	-	-	-
AM10977	Up	Up	-	-	-
AM11260	Up	Up	-	-	-
AM06556	Up	Up	-	-	-
AM12445	Up	Up	-	-	-
AM09120	Up	Up	-	-	-
AM06655	Down	Up	-	-	-
AM12055	Up	Up	-	-	-
AM05668	Down	-	Up	-	-
AM08800	Up	-	Up	-	-
AM03361	Up	-	Down	-	-
AM07861	Down	-	Down	-	-
AM08372	Down	-	-	Down	-
AM11870	Up	-	-	Down	-
AM10728	Up	-	-	Down	-
AM07820	Down	-	-	Down	-
AM09798	Down	-	-	Up	-
AM09740	Up	-	-	Up	-
AM09591	Up	-	-	Up	-
AM10873	Down	-	-	Down	-

Table 2.16. Shared probe IDs and their regulation of differentially expressed genes between MN Hygienic, Alarm, AHB Guard, AHB Soldier, and AHB Forager (Alaux et al. 2009b).

RNA sequencing

RNA sequencing (RNA-seq) is used to determine differential gene expression of a transcriptome, much in the same way microarrays have been used. In Tables 2.17 and 2.18 explored the shared genes between MN Hygienic bees and two other hygienic gene stocks specifically the bee brains of Hygienic bees in Canada (Boutin et al. 2015) as well as the antenna of VSH bees in Mondet et al. 2015. Table 2.17 shows the RNA-seq on brains of hygienic bees in Canada and MN Hygienic bee brains where eleven genes overlapped with MN Hygienic bees and seven of these genes are expressed in the same direction. Table 2.18 displays the shared genes of the MN Hygienic, and VSH antenna,

as well as three other microarray studies including VSH (Le Conte et al. 2011),

Uncappers and Genotype and Uncapping (Gempe et al. 2012) . In the comparison

between MN Hygienic and VSH antennae seven of the thirteen overlapping genes share

the same direction of regulation. However, only one gene XM_313199 is up-regulated in

three different studies.

	MN Hygienic	Boutin hygienic
NM_001114198	Down	Down
XM_003250529	Down	Down
XM_623785	Down	Down
XM_397346	Up	Down
XM_001120535	Up	Down
XM_001120947	Down	Down
XM_001123279	Down	Down
NM_001134934	Up	Up
XM_003250089	Down	Up
XM_625264	Down	Up
XM_624499	Up	Up

Table 2.17. Shared genes between Boutin hygienic (Boutin et al. 2015) and MN Hygienic.

	MN Hygienic	VSH Antenna	VSH	Uncappers	Genotype and uncapping
XM_001121886	Up	Down	-	-	-
XM_397526	Up	Down	Down	-	-
XM_393500	Up	Down	-	-	-
XM_001120535	Up	Down	-	Up	-
XM_001119981	Up	Up	-	-	-
XM_395180	Down	Up	-	-	-
XM_393199	Up	Up	-	-	Up
<i>XM</i> _394041	Up	Up	-	-	-
XM_001119829	Up	Up	-	-	-
XM_394655	Up	Up	-	-	-
<i>XM</i> _394671	Up	Up	-	-	-
XM_394509	Up	Up	-	-	-
NM_001011578	Down	Up	-	-	-

Table 2.18. Regulation of shared differentially expressed genes between MN Hygienic bee brains, VSH antenna (Mondet et al. 2015), VSH brains (Le Conte et al. 2011), Uncappers and Genotype and uncapping (Gempe et al. 2012).

Quantitative Trait Loci

Quantitative trait loci (QTL) have often been used to attempt to identify the location of vital genes required for a specific trait. Oxley et al. 2010 and Tsuruda et al. 2012 utilized QTL to attempt to identify the genes responsible of MN Hygienic and VSH behavior respectively. Of the six QTL found in Oxley et al. (2010), none of the genes singled out for olfaction in the paper were found to be differentially expressed in our microarray. We looked for differentially expressed genes within the given confidence intervals of the three Hygienic QTLs. Table 2.19 displays these genes for all three confidence intervals available for each QTL. Tsuruda et al. 2012 identified two QTLs for VSH bees, and only one of the genes identified as candidate genes in those locations was

differentially expressed in MN Hygienic bees, XM_001120826.

QTL	95% CI Bootstrapping	80 % CI	95 % CI
Hyg1	XM_623667	<i>XM</i> _003249764	XM_392202
	XM_003249640	XM_394358	XM_392201
	<i>XM</i> _394822	<i>XM</i> _001122514	NM_001114198
	XM_392251	XM_003250707	XM_397515
	XM_395235	XM_003250708	XM_394277
	XM_624856	XM_003250709	
	XM_392566	<i>XM</i> _003250672	
	XM_001120195	XM_392617	
	XM_003249764	<i>XM</i> _003250724	
	XM_394358	NM_001011597	
Hyg2	<i>XM</i> _623140	XM_003250379	XR_120381
	XM_392588	<i>XM</i> _001120874	XM_001120826
	XM_396579	XM_001120289	XM_395694
	XM_003249990	XR_015011	XM_394859
	XM_392359	XM_001119888	XM_394588
	XM_394955	<i>XM</i> _003250634	
	XM_001123290	XR_120381	
		XM_001120826	
		XM_395694	
		XM_394859	
		XM_394588	
Hyg3	XM_003249113	XM_003249113	XM_003249113
	XM_001119916	<i>XM</i> _001119916	<i>XM</i> _001119916
	XM_001122652	<i>XM</i> _001122652	<i>XM</i> _001122652
	NM_001142561	NM_001142561	NM_001142561
	XM_624909		XM_624909
	XM_001122006		XM_001122006
	<i>XM</i> _623643		XM_623643
	XM_001120278		<i>XM</i> _001120278
	XM_394125		XM_394125
	XM_623560		
	XM_003249431		
	XM_395282		
	<i>XM</i> _624940		

Table 2.19. Differentially expressed genes present in differing confidence intervals found representing quantitative trait loci in MN Hygienic bees (Oxley et al. 2010).

Discussion

To identify differentially expressed genes in MN Hygienic honeybees, the extracted bee brain RNA was tested for purity, and for quantity, before it was sent to be transcribed into cDNA and used for a microarray. Primers selected from the microarray were then tested for specific binding their ability to produce one amplicon. qPCR results from these primers then needs to be tested if it is producing one amplicon as well. Below we discuss the results of these tests and the comparisons to other bee populations.

RNA extraction

The RNA extraction was tested by spectrophotometry and gel electrophoresis. Table 2.1 displays the concentration, as well as the Absorbance (A) at 260, 280, 260/280, and 320nm of our RNA extractions. Absorbance at 260nm indicates nucleic acid, and absorbance at 280nm indicates protein. Absorbance at 320nm indicates the presence foreign materials or scratches on a cuvette. None of the samples used had an A260/A280 below 1.75 as they aren't high yield RNA (Warburg and Christian 1942, and Glasel 1995).

The gel electrophoresis of the RNA in Figures 2.1 and 2.2, displays two bands and a smear. When comparing the bands to the 1kb DNA ladder, we see that the larger band is somewhere between 2,000 and 1,500 base pairs (bp) indicative of an intact 28S and 5.8S ribosomal units while the smaller band is between 1,500 and 1,000 bp indicative of the 18S ribosomal subunit (Winnebeck et al. 2010). Two distinctive bands are resultant of not heating the RNA and degrading it into multiple 18S like subspecies (Winnebeck et al. 2010). Whilst the smear is leftover contaminations (proteins, degraded nucleic acids), or potentially overloading the well with sample (Aaij and Borst 1975).

Primer validation

Agarose gel electrophoresis was used to ensure that PCR amplification using our primers yielded the desired size of amplicon and no other visible amplifications. This was performed via two percent agarose gel electrophoresis. Amplicon sizes were compared to two ladders, the Promega 1 Kilo-base pair (Kb) ladder and the Bionexus Hi-Lo ladder. The two percent gel in Figure 2.3 doesn't allow for discrimination between the larger bands however, the 1kb ladder ends at 500bp, as such when we compare this band to the 500bp band on the Hi-Lo ladder. Utilizing the Hi-Lo ladder we can ascertain that the β -*actin* primer set produces an amplicon between 200 and 100 bp in length (closer to 200bp). The *Elf1-a* primer set produces a band between 200 and 100bp (closer to 100bp). While the *2 pore K pump*, and the *Pteropsin* primer sets produce bands between 100 and 50bp with the *Pteropsin* amplicon being slightly larger than *2 pore K pump* amplicon. These single bands do not conflict with NCBI predicted amplicon lengths as displayed in Table 2.2.

Melt Curves

Melt curves were conducted to ensure that qPCR results were not skewed via unspecific primer binding yielding in many different and undesired products. Such an outcome would invalidate the assumption that we are measuring an analog of gene expression rates. Figures 2.63 through 2.66 display the melting curves for each primer used. Each figure displays a single peak with no signs of a shoulder or plateau suggesting that there is a single amplicon (Ririe et al. 1997).

MN Hygienic bees and non-hygienic bees

MN Hygienic bees significantly differ in their expression of 616 genes when compared to non-hygienic bees based upon microarray and qPCR validation. To understand these differences, these genes should be characterized so that patterns within the expression of genes can be explored. Genes can be characterized via transcription factors which regulate the expression rate of multiple genes, via significant correlations of similar GO terms like that found in FATIGO or even within their capabilities of being a mechanism for MN Hygienic behavior.

Transcription factors

The broadest characterization of the 616 differentially expressed genes of MN Hygienic bee brains is via transcription factors. MN Hygienic bees have fourteen differentially expressed genes related to transcription factors.

The seven up-regulated (\uparrow) transcription factors involve *run-like* (*XM*_001121886), *calmodulin binding transcription activator* (*XM*_001120489), *kruppel-like protein 1* (*NM*_001011566), homeotic protein *ocelliless* (*XM*_394161) and POU-domain motif 3 (*XM*_391982) as well as homeobox genes such as *NKx-2.4 like*

(XM_394578), and labial (XM_001120278). Run-like transcription factor is comparable to *runt* in *Drosophila melanogaster*. In the dipteran the primary pair-rule transcription factor runt has been implicated in neurogenesis (Hartmann et al. 1994; Kania, 1990). Calmodulin binding transcription activators in *Drosophila* have been implicated in regulating the long term feedback from calcium stimulating G coupled protein receptors. This could prevent the cell from being damaged from excitotoxicity (Han et al. 2006). *Kruppel* is a gap gene that in *Drosophila* that plays a role in axonal guidance and neuroblast fate determination (Abrell & Jackle 2001; Isshiki et al. 2001). Ocelliless or Orthodenticle is a gap gene in Drosophila, known for its role in helping define antennal segments, and regional head development (Royet and Finkelstein 1995). POU domain motif 3 is responsible for axonal guidance, axonal target recognition, axonogeneis, and sensory perception of smell (Chen et al. 2012; Tichy et al. 2008). NKx-2.4 like, also known as Scarecrow in Drosophila has been implicated in dendrite morphogenesis (Iyer et al. 2013). Labial is involved with brain development and segmentation in Drosophila (Meier et al. 2006 and Hirth et al. 1998).

The seven down-regulated (\downarrow) genes include a *kruppel homolog* (*XM*_001121743), two homeobox proteins *B-H2* (*XM*_001121415) and *extradenticle* (*XM*_392297), *homeodomain interacting protein kinase* (*XM*_392202), transcription initiation factor *TFIID subunit 9 like* (*XM*_001122736) and transcription factors *IIA L* (*XM*_003251780) and *BTF3 homolog 4 like* (*XM*_001122345). Where the *Kruppel homolog* has been found to accompany metamorphosis in *Drosophia* (Shi et al 2007). In the honeybee expression of the *kruppel homolog* is thought to play a role in initiating

foraging behavior (Fussnecker and Grozinger 2008). B-H2 in Drosophila plays a role in eye-antennal disk morphogeneis (Kojima et al. 2000). Extradenticle has been implicated as playing a role in brain development (Nagao et al. 2000). *Histone interacting protein* kinase affects positive regulation of the following gene expression, hippo signaling, and notch signaling pathway (Dewald et al. 2014; Chen and Verheyen 2012; Lee et al. 2009). Transcription initiation factor TFIID subunit 9-like or the enhancer of yellow in Drosophila has the following inferred functions from mutant phenotypes regulation of glucose metabolic process, and positive regulation of transcription of Notch receptor target (Xie et al. 2014; Ugrankar et al. 2015). Transcription factor IIA L in Drosophila plays a role in the positive regulation of transcription from RNA polymerase II promoter (Yokomori et al. 1994). BTF3 homolog 4 like or bicauldal in Drosophila is responsible for pole determination inside the cell for mRNA as well as regulation of the establishment of protein localization (Markesich et al. 2000). Transcription factors often interact with each other and can alter the rate of transcription for multiple genes. Therefore they may have been instrumental in the statistically significant groupings found via FATIGO.

FATIGO

Significant correlations between GO terms of orthologues were analyzed via FATIGO. 37 differentially down-regulated genes shared GO terms for the structural constituents of ribosomes. However, due to a discrepancy between orthologues and the predicted function of honey bee genes, there may be as many as 55 genes that are differentially down-regulated for ribosomal constituents in MN Hygienic bee brains (see Tables 2.10 and Table 3.1). Large decreases in the ribosomal constituents have been found in neuronal differentiation, colony collapse, miRNA silencing, as well as vibrating bees (Alaux et al. 2009a; Bévort and Leffers 2000; Janas et al. 2012; Johnson et al. 2009). However, none of these scenarios share the exact gene expression pattern as in MN Hygienic bees.

FATIGO analysis of up-regulated genes yielded seven groups of GO terms that were related to transmembrane transport of amino acids, ions, and solute. Whilst some of these genes are present in several of the seven groups, most were related to utilizing the gradient of sodium to assist in the moving of molecules across the membrane. Further analysis of the microarray data reveals six up-regulated genes not identified via FATIGO that are related to ion channels or ion exchangers ($XM_394509 \uparrow$, $XM_395235 \uparrow$, $XM_003250628 \uparrow$, $XM_391895 \uparrow$, $XM_393798 \uparrow$, $XM_003249711 \uparrow$). These channels and exchangers help the neuron either maintain concentration gradients or allow the neuron to depolarize as well as repolarize more quickly, which would in turn allow neurons to fire more frequently.

NCBI Ref. Seq.						
NM_001135909	XM_003250946					
XM_392726	XM_392809					
XM_001123215	XM_393614					
NM_001174143	XM_393034					
NM_001011587	XM_392988					
XM_394854	XM_001119888					
XM_001119828	XM_001121176					
XM_624256	XR_120351					
XM_624940	XM_394987					
XM_001120521	XM_003249292					
XM_624035	XM_003251109					
XM_001120524	XM_392037					
XM_003250911	XM_623926					
XM_393092	XM_625006					
XM_624648	NM_001011604					
XM_003251321	XM_393671					
XM_001120360	XM_625101					
XM_003249764	XM_397323					
XM_003251102	XM_396646					
XM_624081	XM_624893					
XM_003251103	XM_623521					
XM_624617	XM_392059					
XM_003251119	XM_001121930					
XM_393511	XM_393135					
XM_397314	XM_001120315					
XM_624868	XM_392330					
XM_003251935	XM_623728					
XM_392812						

Table 3.1. Down-regulated gene transcripts related to ribosomal constitutes.

Hygienic behavior

MN Hygienic behavior is believed dependent upon olfaction (Masterman 2000). Olfactory signals are converted into neurotransmitters in the flagella of the antennae and transmitted to the brain for interpretation. The role of a specific neurotransmitter in

olfactory memory is evidenced via proboscis extension reflex experimentation in conjunction with neurotransmitter receptor blocking (El Hassani et al. 2005, and El Hassani et al. 2008). MN Hygienic bees may have more sensitive neurons to olfactory signals as they have a greater amount of regulated genes for receptors than non-hygienic bees. MN Hygienic bees have nineteen differentially up-regulated genes related to receptors (XM_395235, XM_393375, NM_001011623, XM_396271, NM_001011625, NM 001171108, XM 394520, XM 625037, XM 397268, XM 392128, XM 003249170, NM_001011565, XM_003249172, XM_396348, XM_003250672, NM_001011573, *NM*_001011595, *XM*_003249169, and *XM*_003249573), and five down-regulated genes for receptors (XM_001122652, XM_003250875, XM_395004, NM_001143921, and *XM*_396085). Each of these receptors specifically binds to neurotransmitters in the brain. On an organismal level, each neurotransmitter has a different spatial-temporal effect upon olfactory memory formation as seen via proboscis extension reflex experimentations (El Hassani et al. 2009, and Stopfer et al. 1997). On a cellular level, the increased number of receptors either can affect the rate at which a cell polarizes or repolarizes and/or it causes interactions with the cell via secondary messengers such as cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) and inositol triphosphate (IP3)/ diacylglycerol (DAG) (Mustard et al. 2003).

MN Hygienic bees have differentially expressed genes in the cAMP pathway $(XM_{393859} \uparrow, NM_{001077808} \uparrow, \text{ and } XM_{001122246} \downarrow)$ and the IP3/ DAG pathway $(XM_{003250942} \uparrow)$. In the IP3/DAG pathway there are two calmodulin genes which are up-regulated and potentially assist the influx of calcium ions emanating from the smooth

endoplasmic reticulum (*XM*_001120489 \uparrow , and *XM*_392226 \uparrow). Calcium may play a role in MN Hygienic behavior because they have seven transcripts for calcium channels as well as ion exchangers relating to calcium (*XM*_393500 \uparrow , *XM*_003249174 \uparrow , *XM*_624825 \uparrow , *XM*_396230 \uparrow , *XM*_003249711 \uparrow , *XM*_393798 \uparrow , and *XM*_003250302 \uparrow). However, the IP3/DAG, and cAMP pathways are not the only affected parties of neurotransmitter signaling. There are also the effects of each neurotransmitters on memory formation (Gauthier and Grünewald 2012).

Acetylcholine is the primary excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain and is directly involved in olfactory memory (Gauthier and Grünewald 2012; Grünewald 2012). Nicotinic acetylcholine receptors like those differentially expressed in MN Hygienic bees are implicated in acquisition and retrieval of long term memory ($XM_625037 \uparrow$, and $NM_001011625 \uparrow$). It is believed that acetylcholine is one of the coincidence detection molecules utilized in learning (Perez-Orive et al. 2002).

Gamma-Aminobutyric acid (GABA) is an inhibitory neurotransmitter in the bee brain. GABA gated chlorine channels have been linked to olfactory memory via chloride channel blocker experimentation paired with proboscis extension reflex conditioning (Gauthier and Grünewald 2012; Grünewald 2012). Three transcripts in MN Hygienic bees relate to GABA, one is a GABA gated ion channel ($XM_397242 \uparrow$), and the other two are transporters ($NM_001011643 \uparrow$, and $NM_001134934 \uparrow$).

Dopamine and serotonin's function in the brain are not yet understood (Gauthier and Grünewald 2012; Grünewald 2012). The roles played by dopamine tend to be temporally and spatially based and have impact upon behavior, aging, maturity and aversive learning (Mustard et al. 2012). One transcript ($NM_001171108$ \uparrow) for dopamine receptor 1 was up-regulated in MN Hygienic bees. This receptor yields increasing levels of cAMP in its host cell. Serotonin has been implicated in phototactic behavior as well as associated learning. The 5-Ht 1 receptor ($NM_001171108$) up-regulated in MN Hygienic bees is believed to associate with phototactic behavior in bees (Thamm et al. 2010).

Octopamine is an excitatory neurotransmitter in the bee brain and it is related to reward processing (Gauthier and Grünewald 2012; Grünewald 2012). It is well understood to be an accompaniment of olfactory learning, memory, recall and consolidation (Mustard et al. 2012; Farooqui et al. 2003; Hammer and Menzel 1998). It is believed to be a parallel signal with acetylcholine that coincidence detection utilizes to create an action potential when paired together. Our microarray data supports Mastermann 2001 which found greater amounts of octopamine receptors in MN Hygienic bees as five of the differentially expressed transcripts related to octopamine receptors were up-regulated ($XM_003249172 \uparrow$, $XM_396348 \uparrow$, $XM_003249170 \uparrow$, $NM_001011565 \uparrow$, and $XM_003249169 \uparrow$).

In addition to neurotransmitters, neuropeptides may serve as a secondary format of neurotransmission. Neuropeptides are an ancient chemical messaging system used by neurons. It is believed that they are released after long spike trains, as there is high calcium influx at the presynaptic junction (Galizia and Kreissl 2012). This type of neurotransmission can travel to distal targets. MN Hygienic bees differentially express ten genes related to neuropeptides (*XM*_001122576 \uparrow , *NM*_001110712 \uparrow , $NM_001143921 \downarrow$, $XM_001122652 \downarrow$, $XM_001119829 \uparrow$, $XM_001120062 \uparrow$, $XM_397268 \uparrow$, $XM_395479 \downarrow$, $XM_393375 \uparrow$, and $NM_001167720 \uparrow$). Neuropeptides of interest are pheromone biosynthesis-activating neuropeptide, neuropeptide F and neuropeptide Y ($NM_001110712$, $NM_001167720$, and XM_393375) as they have been implicated in foraging behavior as well as the motivation for food (Ament et al. 2011). These transcripts follow the expression patterns of foraging bees regardless of age in MN Hygienic bees.

Glutamate plays a role in appetitive olfactory memory, specifically in the formation of medium-term memory and early long term memory formation (Gauthier and Grünewald 2012; Grünewald 2012; Le Boulle 2012). MN Hygienic bees have ten genes differentially regulated that are related to glutamate transmission (XM_391979 \uparrow , $NM_001011623$ \uparrow , $XM_001123051$ \uparrow , $NM_001011597$ \uparrow , XM_396271 \uparrow , $NM_001011573$ \uparrow , XM_397242 \uparrow , $NM_001011643$ \uparrow , $NM_00101134934$ \uparrow , and XM_395682 \downarrow). Three of them are for receptors (XM_396271 , $NM_001011573$, and $NM_001011623$), three are GABA gated ion channels (XM_397242 , $NM_001011643$ and $NM_001134934$), one is glutamate synthase (XM_391979) and two of them are glutamic transporters (XM_395682 and $NM_001011597$).

Overall, MN Hygienic bees have 32 differentially regulated genes related to neuropeptide and neurotransmitter signaling. This deviation from non-hygienic bees may signify a learned proponent of the behavior, as increased numbers of receptors, transporters, ion channels, ion exchangers may indicate increased number of dendrite connections. It is unclear if one or all of these chemicals is utilized or needed for MN Hygienic behavior, as well as MN Hygienic bee's ability to distinguish between dead or alive brood (Gramacho and Spivak 2003).

MN Hygienic and other behavioral gene sets

Vibrating bees (Alaux et al. 2009a) are the only group of bees to share significant similarities to MN Hygienic bees (p-value ~ 0.001). Together, they share 72 differentially expressed genes. 51 of these genes are regulated in the same direction. Of these genes, one encodes for a known transcription factor (XM_391982), and seventeen encode for ribosomal constituents (XM_625101 , XM_394854 , XM_392059 , $NM_001011604$, $XM_001121176$, XM_394987 , $XM_001121930$, XM_392809 , $XM_001119888$, XM_623521 , XM_393614 , XM_624035 , $XM_001119828$, XM_393135 , $XM_001120315$, $XM_001120524$, and $XM_001120521$). Due to the similarities in expression between MN Hygienic and vibrating bees, it is possible that the transcription factor may play a role in the regulation of the ribosomal constitutes as well as the other shared genes.

MN Hygienic bees and other hygienic bee studies

MN Hygienic bees differ by 616 genes from their non-hygienic counterparts. But, what do they share in common with other hygienic bee studies? Shared genes may serve many purposes, such as potential candidate genes and as marker genes for the trait. Such genes should be differentially expressed between hygienic and non-hygienic bees, and share a similar regulation of expression, see Table 3.2. Genetic mapping, such as quantitative trait loci, is often the first attempt to find candidate genes.

Quantitative trait loci (QTL) performed by Oxley et al. 2010 gave rise to three hygienic loci of interest for MN Hygienic bees. Of the genes indicated in Tables 2.13 and 2.15, it is worth noting that five of them are shared in Genotype mixing or Genotype and uncapping (Gempe et al. 2012). One gene is shared with Boutin hygienic (Boutin et al. 2015) and one with QTL study on VSH bees (Tsuruda et al. 2012). Within the three confidence intervals of Hyg1 (Oxley et al. 2010), the following genes are found in MN Hygienic bees as well as Genotype and uncapping bees (XM_392202, XM_395235, XM_394277) (Table 3.2). XM_392202 has been down-regulated in both MN Hygienic and Genotype and uncapping bees (Gempe et al. 2012). This gene is of interest as it encodes for histone interacting protein kinase which been implicated in transcription factor binding. Boutin hygienic shared down-regulation of NM_001114198 which codes for an apolipophorin-III-like protein. Hyg2 shared the transcript XM_001120874 with Genotype and uncapping and MN Hygienic bees both had the gene up-regulated. *XM_001120874* codes for tubulin polyglutamylase TTL6. Hyg2 also shares XM_001120826 with VSH QTL (Tsuruda et. al 2012) and MN Hygienic bee brains have the gene significantly down regulated. Hyg3 shares down-regulation of XM_{624940} with Genotype mixing and MN Hygienic bees. It encodes a ribosomal protein S7. It is important to note however that quantitative trait loci do not have to indicate loci of genes needed for a trait. Instead, it could be indicating a mutation or alteration of the genetic code which yields the behavioral phenotype. As these alterations could also change or alter gene expression patterns especially if found in promoter region of a gene.

Comparisons of hygienic genes stocks yielded three genes that were shared in three different studies (Table 3.2). $XM_001120535$ was shared between VSH antenna (\downarrow), MN Hygienic (\uparrow), and Gempe Uncappers (\uparrow) and it codes for a hypothetical protein which warrants attention for its role in hygienic behavior. XM_397526 was differentially expressed in MN Hygienic bees as well as both studies of VSH bees, however the regulation between VSH and MN Hygienic bees differed. The other gene is Defective Proboscis extension Response 18 like (DPR18 like, XM_393199). It encodes a hypothetical protein which appears to be a transmembrane protein that has two immunoglobulin regions. Similar genes such as DPR1 in Drosophila have been implicated in gustatory salt aversion (Nakamura 2002). DPR18 like was differentially upregulated in MN Hygienic bees, VSH antennae, and in Gempe et al. 2012's genotype with uncapping bees. As it wasn't differentially expressed in the uncappers (Gempe et al. 2012), it is possible that it is a result of mixing the colony genotypes more than being a trait of hygienic bees.

	Study utilized						
Gene Name	MN Hygienic	Le Conte et al. 2011	Boutin et al. 2015	Mondet et al. 2015	Uncappers (Gempe et al. 2012)	Genotype and uncapping (Gempe et al. 2012)	Oxley et al. 1 2010
XM_393199	Up	-	-	Up	-	Up	-
XM_001120874	Up	-	-	-	-	Up	Hyg2
<i>XM</i> _624940	Down	-	-	-	-	Down	Hyg3
NM_001114198	Down	-	Down	-	-	-	Hyg1
XM_392202	Down	-	-	-	-	Down	Hyg1
XM_001120535	Up	-	-	Down	Up	-	-
XM_395235	Up	-	-	-	-	Down	Hyg1
XM_394277	Up	-	-	-	-	Down	Hyg1
XM_397526	Up	Down	-	Down	-	-	-

Table 3.2. Genes shared between MN hygienic and other Hygienic bee studies.

Conclusion

With 616 differentially expressed genes, MN Hygienic bee brains share two with VSH bee brains. The genes (XM_{624537} , and XM_{397526}) are too few to represent a correlation between the two gene sets according to the hypergeometric probabilities (p-value = 0.6). This fails to reject the hypothesis that, despite the many similarities between the two behavior types, the candidate genes differ between groups. This difference may originate from where the sensitivity within the olfactory system takes place. From Mondet et al. 2015's research, it appears VSH bees may have more sensitivity in the antenna flagella than non-hygienic bees. MN Hygienic bee antenna have yet to be tested, however from this study, they appear to have greater sensitivity within the brain to neurotransmitters which could be transmitting olfactory signals.

Future research could see if any of the genes identified here make adequate candidate genes for Hygienic behavior. By testing them across different hygienic groups

and in the wild. Additionally maybe this pattern of expression is carried out into other tissues of the bee, which could be easier to obtain. *XM_393199* could be a good place to start as it has little to no research behind it. Further characterization of the protein or proteins resultant from this gene, could help direct future research. Currently, it appears that the transmembrane protein product from this gene could play an important role in cell signaling or cellular communication. If the current hypothetical product of this gene is correct, knock out studies or florescent marking of the protein could yield valuable information on the role of the gene, or a region of the brain it is differentially regulated in.

References

Aaij, C. and Borst, P. (1972) The gel electrophoresis of DNA. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 269:197-200.

- Abrell, S., and Jäckle, H. (2001) Axon guidance of *Drosophila* SNb motoneurons depends on the cooperative action of muscular *Kruppel* and neuronal capricious activities. *Mech. Dev.* 109(1):3-12.
- Alaux, C., Duong, N., Schneider, S.S., Southey, B.R., Rodriguez-Zas, S., and Robinson, G.E. (2009a) Modulatory communication signal performance is associated with a distinct neurogenomic state in honey bees. *PLoS ONE* **4**: e6694.
- Alaux, C., Sinha, S., Hasadsri, L., Hunt, G.J., Guzman-Novoa, E., DeGrandi-Hoffman, G., Uribe-Rubio, J.
 L., Southey, B. R., Rodriguez-Zas, S., and Robinson, G. E. (2009b) Honey bee aggression
 supports a link between gene regulation and behavioral evolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA*, 106:15400–15405.
- Albert, S., Gatchenberger, H., Azzami, K., Gimple, O., Grimmer, G., Sumner, S., Fujiyuki, T., Tautz, J., and Mueller, M. (2011) Evidence of a novel immune response protein in Hymenoptera. *Insect Biochemistry and Molecular Biology* **41**:968-981.
- Al-Shahrour, F., Minguez, P., Tárraga, J., Medina, I., Alloza, E., Montaner, D., and Dopazo, J. (2007).
 FatiGO +: a functional profiling tool for genomic data. Integration of functional annotation, regulatory motifs and interaction data with microarray experiments. *Nucleic Acids Research* 35: W91–W96.
- Ament, S. A., Velarde, R.A., Kolodkin, M. H., Moyse, D., and Robinson, G. E. (2011) Neuropeptide Y-like signaling and nutritionally mediated gene expression and behavior in the honey bee. *Insect Molecular Biology*, **20**(3), 335-345.
- Arathi, H.S. and Spivak, M. (2001) Influence of colony genotypic composition on the performance of hygienic behaviour in the honeybee, *Apis mellifera* L. *Animal Behaviour*, **62**, 57-66.

- Arathi, H.S., Ho, G. and Spivak, M. (2006) Inefficient task partitioning among nonhygienic honeybees, *Apis mellifera* L., and implications for disease transmission. *Hormones and Behavior* 72:431-438.
- Arathi, H.S., Burns, I. and Spivak, M. (2000) Ethology of hygienic behaviour in the honey bee Apis mellifera L. (Hymenoptera: Apidae): Behavioural repertoire of hygienic bees. Ethology 106:365-379.
- Baalen, M.V. and Beekman, M. (2006) The costs and benefits of genetic heterogeneity in resistance against parasites in social insects. *The American Naturalist* 167:568-577.
- Bengtsson, M., Stahlberg, A., Rorsman, P., and Kubista, M. (2005) Gene expression profiling in single cells from pancreatic islets of Langerhans reveals lognormal distribution of mRNA levels. *Genome Research* 15:1388-1392.
- Bévort, M., and Leffers, H. (2000) Down regulation of ribosomal protein mRNAs during neuronal differentiation of human NTERA2 cells, *Differentiation* 66(2–3):81-92.
- Boutin, S., Alburaki, M., Mercier, P., Giovenazzo, P., and Derome, N. (2015) Differential gene expression between hygienic and non-hygienic honeybee (Apis mellifera L.) hives. *BMC Genomics* 16(500):1-13.
- Bromenshenk, J. J., Henderson, C. B., Wick, C. ., Stanford, M. F., Zulich, A. W., Jabbour, R. E.,
 Deshpande, S. V., McCubbin, P. E., Seccomb, R. A., Welch, P. W., Williams, T., Firth, D. R.,
 Skowronski, E., Lehmann, M. M., Bilimoria, S. L., Gress, J., Wanner, K.W., and Cramer, R. A. Jr.
 (2010) Iridovirus and Microsporidian Linked to Honey Bee Colony Decline. *PLoS ONE*5(10):e13181.
- Burns, M. J., Nixon, G. J., Foy, C. A., and Harris N. (2005) Standardisation of data from real-time quantitative PCR methods – evaluation of outliers and comparison of calibration curves. *BMC Biotechnology* 5:31:1-13.
- Chen, C.K., Chen, W.Y., and C.T. Chien (2012) The POU-domain protein *Pdm3* regulates axonal targeting of R neurons in the *Drosophila* ellipsoid body. *Dev. Neurobiol.* **72(11)**:1422-1432.
- Chen, J., and Verheyen E.M. (2012). Homeodomain-interacting protein kinase regulates yorkie activity to promote tissue growth. *Curr. Biol.* **22(17)**:1582-1586.
- Cremer, S., Armitage, S. A.O., and Schmid-Hempel, P. (2007) Social immunity. *Current Biology* **17**:693-702.
- Dacher, M., Lagarrigue, A., and Gauthier, M. (2005) Antennal tactile learning in the honeybee: Effects of nicotine antagonists on memory dynamics. *Neuroscience* **130**:37-50.
- Danka, R.G., Harris, J.W. and Villa, J.D. (2011) Expression of varroa sensitive hygiene (VSH) in commercial VSH honey bees (hymenoptera: Apidae). *Journal of Economic Entomology* 104:745-749.
- Dewald, D.N., Steinmetz, E.L., and Walldorf U. (2014) Homeodomain-interacting protein kinase (Hipk) phosphorylates the small SPOC family protein Spenito. *Insect Mol. Biol.* **23(6)**:706-719.
- El Hassani, A. K., Dacher, M., Gauthier, M., and Armengaud, C. (2005) Effects of sublethal doses of fipronil on the behavior of the honeybee (Apis mellifera). *Pharmacol Biochem Behav.* 82(1):30–39.
- El Hassani, A. K., Dupuis, J. P., Gauthier, M., and Armengaud, C. (2009) Glutamatergic and GABAergic effects of fipronil on olfactory learning and memory in the honeybee. Invert *Neurosci.* **9**(**2**):91–100.
- El Hassani A. K., Giurfa M., Gauthier M., and Armengaud C. (2008) Inhibitory neurotransmission and olfactory memory in honeybees. *Neurobiol Learn Mem* **90**(4):589–595.

- Farooqui, T., Robinson, K., Vaessin, H., and Smith, B. (2003) Modulation of early olfactory processing by an octopaminergic reinforcement pathway in the honey bee. *The Journal of Neuroscience* 23(12):5370-5380.
- Fefferman, N.H., Traniello, J.F.A., Rosengaus, R.B. and Calleri, D.V.,II. (2007) Disease prevention and resistance in social insects: Modeling the survival consequences of immunity, hygienic behavior, and colony organization. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 61:565-577.
- Fussnecker, B., and C. Grozinger (2008) Dissecting the role of *Kr-h1* brain gene expression in foraging behavior in honey bees (*Apis mellifera*). *Insect Mol Biol.* **17(5)**:515-522.
- Galizia, C. G.,and Kreissl, S. (2012) Neuropeptides in Honey Bees. *Honeybee Neurobiology and Behavior* 3.7:211-226, doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-2099-2_17.
- Gallai, N., Salles, J.M., Settele, J. and Vaissière, B.E. (2009) Economic valuation of the vulnerability of world agriculture confronted with pollinator decline. *Ecological Economics* 68:810-821.
- Gauthier, M.,and Grünewald, B. (2012) Neurotransmitter Systems in the Honey Bee Brain: Functions in Learning and Memory. *Honeybee Neurobiology and Behavior* 3.3:155-169, doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-2099-2_17.
- Gempe, T., Stach, S., Bienefeld, K., and Beye, M. (2012) Mixing of Honeybees with Different Genotypes Affects Individual Worker Behavior and Transcription of Genes in the Neuronal Substrate. *PLoS ONE* 7(2):e31653.
- Glasel, J. (1995) Validity of nucleic acid purities monitored by 260/280 absorbance ratios. *BioTechniques* **18**(1): 62–63.
- Gramacho, K.P. and Spivak, M. (2003) Differences in olfactory sensitivity and behavioral responses among honey bees bred for hygienic behavior. *Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology* 54:472-479.

Grubbs, F. E. (1969) Procedure for detecting outlying observations in samples. *Technometrics* 11(1):1-21.

- Grünewald, B. (2012) Cellular Physiology of the Honey Bee Brain. *Honeybee Neurobiology and Behavior***3.5**:185-198, doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-2099-2_17.
- Halbritter, F., Kousa, A.I, and Tomlinson, S.R. (2013) GeneProf data: a resource of curated, integrated and reusable high-throughput genomics experiments. *Nucleic Acids Research* **42**:D851-858
- Hammer, M., and Menzel, R. (1998) Multiple sites of associative odor learning as revealed by local brain microinjections of Octopamine in honeybees. *Learning & memory* 5:146-156.
- Han, J., Gong, P., Reddig, K., Mitra, M., Guo, P., and Li, H. S. (2006) The fly CAMTA transcription factor potentiates deactivation of rhodopsin, a G protein-coupled light receptor. Cell 127(4):847-58.
- Hartmann, C., Taubert, H., Jäckle H., and Pankratz, M. J. (1994) A two-step mode of stripe formation in the *Drosophila* blastoderm requires interactions among primary pair rule genes. *Mech. Dev.* 45(1):3-13.
- Hirth, F., Hartmann, B., and Reichert, H. (1998) Homeotic gene action in embryonic brain development of Drosophila. Development 125(9):1579-1589.
- Ibrahim, A. and Spivak, M. (2006) The relationship between hygienic behavior and suppression of mite reproduction as honey bee (*Apis mellifera*) mechanisms of resistance to *Varroa destructor*. *Apidologie* 37:31-40.
- Ibrahim, A., Rueter, G.S. and Spivak, M. (2007) Field trial of honey bee colonies bred for mechanisms of resistance against *Varroa destructor*. *Apidologie*, **38**:67-76.
- Isshiki, T., Pearson, B., Holbrook, S. and Doe, C.Q. (2001) *Drosophila* neuroblasts sequentially express transcription factors which specify the temporal identity of their neuronal progeny. *Cell*, **106(4)**:511-521.

- Iyer, E.P., Iyer, S.C., Sullivan, L., Wang, D., Meduri, R., Graybeal, L.L., and Cox, D.N. (2013) Functional genomic analyses of two morphologically distinct classes of *Drosophila* sensory neurons: postmitotic roles of transcription factors in dendritic patterning. *PLoS ONE* 8(8):e72434.
- Janas, M. M., Wang, E., Love, T., Harris, A. S., Stevenson, K., Semmelmann, K., Shaffer, J. M., Chen, P.,
 Doench, J. G., Yerramilli, S.V.B.K., Neuberg, D. S., Iliopoulos, D., Housman, D. E., Burge, C.
 B., and Novina, C. D. (2012) Reduced expression of ribosomal proteins relieves microRNAmediated repression. *Molecular Cell* 46(27):171-18.
- Johnson, R. M., Evans, J. D., Robinson, G. E., and Berenbaum, M. R. (2009). Changes in transcript abundance relating to colony collapse disorder in honey bees (*Apis mellifera*). Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA, 106(35), 14790–14795.
- Kania, M. A., Bonner A. S., Duffy, J B., and Gergen J. P. (1990) The *Drosophila* segmentation gene *runt* encodes a novel nuclear regulatory protein that is also expressed in the developing nervous system. *Genes Dev.* 4(10):1701-13.
- Kim, S.K., Lund, J., Kiraly, M., Duke, K., Jiang, M., Stuart, J.M., Eizinger, A., Wylie, B.N., and Daviddson, G.S. (2001) A gene expression map for *Caenohabdtis elegans*. *Science* 293(5537):2087-2092.
- Kojima, T., Sato, M., and Saigo K. (2000) Formation and specification of distal leg segments in Drosophila by dual Bar homeobox genes, BarH1 and BarH2. Development 127(4): 769-778.
- Lapidge, K.L., Oldroyd, B.P. and Spivak, M. (2002) Seven suggestive quantitative trait loci influence hygienic behavior of honey bees. *Naturwissenschaften* **89**:565-568.
- Leboulle, G. (2012) Glutamate neurotransmission in the honey bee central nervous system. *Honeybee Neurobiology and Behavior* **3.4**:171-184, doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-2099-2_17.

- Le Conte, Y., Alaux, C., Martin, J., Harbo, J.R., Harris, J.W., Dantec, C., Severac, D., Cros-Areil, S. and Navajas, M. (2011) Social immunity in honeybees (*Apis mellifera*): Transcriptome analysis of varroa-hygienic behaviour. *Insect Molecular Biology* **20**(3):399-408.
- Le Conte, Y., Marion, E. and Ritter, W. (2010) Mites and honey bee health: Can explain part of the colony losses? *Apidologie* **41**:353-363.
- Lee, W., Andrews, B.C., Faust, M., Walldorf, U., and Verheyen E.M. (2009) Hipk is an essential protein that promotes Notch signal transduction in the Drosophila eye by inhibition of the global corepressor Groucho. *Dev. Biol.* 325(1):263-272.
- Limpert, E., Stahel, W. A., and Abbt, M. (2001) Log-normal distributions across the sciences: keys and clues. *BioScience* 51(5):341-352.
- Markesich, D.C., Gajewski, K.M., Nazimiec, M.E., and Beckingham K. (2000) Bicaudal encodes the Drosophila NAC homolog, a component of the ribosomal translational machinery. *Development* 127(3):559-572.
- Martin, S.J. (2001) The role of *Varroa* and viral pathogens in the collapse of honeybee colonies: A modelling approach. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 38:1082-1093.
- Martin, S.J., Highfield, A. C., Brettell L., Villalobos, E. M., Budge, G. E., Powell, M., Nikaido, S., and Schroeder, D. C. (2012) Global honey bee viral landscape altered by a parasitic mite. *Science* 336:1304-1306.
- Masterman R. (2001) Olfactory and behavioral response thresholds to odors of diseased brood differ between hygienic and non-hygienic honey bees (*Apis mellifera* L.). Journal of Comparative Physiology. A, Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology 187:441-452.

- Masterman, R.R. (2000) Brood odor discrimination abilities in hygienic honey bees (*Apis mellifera* L.) using proboscis extension reflex conditioning. *Journal of Insect Behavior* **13**:87-101.
- Meier, S., Sprecher, S.G., Reichert, H., and F. Hirth (2006) Ventral veins lacking is required for specification of the tritocerebrum in embryonic brain development of *Drosophila*. *Mech. Dev.*, **123(1)**:76-83.
- Mercer, A.R., and Menzel R. (1982) The effects of biogenic amines on conditioned and unconditioned responses to olfactory stimuli in the honeybee *Apis mellifera*. *Journal of Comparative Physiology.A, Neuroethology, Sensory, Neural, and Behavioral Physiology* 145:363-368.
- Moller, H. (1996) Lessons for invasion theory from social insects. Biological Conservation 78:125-42.
- Mondet, F., Alaux, C., Severac, D., Rohmer, M., Mercer, A. M., and Le Conte, Y. (2015) Antennae hold a key to *Varroa*-sensitive hygiene behavior in honey bees. *Scientific Reports* **5**:10454.
- Mortiz, R.F.A. (1988) A reevaluation of the two-locus model for hygienic behavior in honeybees (*Apis mellifera L.*). *The Journal of Heredity* **79**(**4**):257-262.
- Mustard, J. A., Blenau, W., Hamilton, I. S., Ward, V. K., Ebert, P. R., and Mercer, A. R. (2003) Analysis of two D1-like dopamine receptors from the honey bee Apis mellifera reveals agonist-independent activity. *Molecular Brian Research* 113(1):67-77.
- Mustard, J. A., Vergoz, V., Mesce, K. A., Klukas, K. A., Beggs, K.T., Geddes, L. H., McQuillan, H. J., and Mercer, A. R. (2012) Dopamine signaling in the bee. *Honeybee Neurobiology and Behavior* 3.6:199-209, doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-2099-2_17.
- Nagao, T., Endo, K., Kawauchi, H., Walldorf, U., and Furukubo-Tokunaga K. (2000) Patterning defects in the primary axonal scaffolds caused by the mutations of the extradenticle and homothorax genes in the embryonic Drosophila brain. *Dev. Genes Evol.* 210(6):289-299.

- Nakamura, N., Baldwin, D., Hannaford, S., Palka, J., and Montell, C. (2002) Defective proboscis extension response(DPR), a member of the Ig superfamily required for the gustatory response to salt. *The Journal of Neuroscience* **22(9)**:3463-3472.
- Oxley, P.R., Spivak, M. and Oldroyd, B.P. (2010) Six quantitative trait loci influence task thresholds for hygienic behaviour in honeybees (*Apis mellifera*). *Molecular Ecology* **19**:1452-1461.
- Palacio, M.M.A., Rodriguez, E., Goncalves, L., Bedascarrasbure, E. and Spivak, M. (2010) Hygienic behaviors of honey bees in response to brood experimentally pin-killed or infected with *Ascosphaera apis. Apidologie* 41:602-612.
- Panisiuk, B., Skowronek, W. and Bienkowska, M. (2008) Influence of genotype and method of brood killing on brood removal rate in honey bee. *Journal of Apicultural Science* **52(2)**:55-65.
- Perez-Orive, J., Mazor, O., Turner, G. C., Cassenaer, S, Wilson, R. I., and Laurent, G. (2002) Oscillations and sparsening of odor representations in the mushroom body. *Science* **297**:359–36.
- Pérez-Sato, J., Chaline, N., Martin, S., Hughes, W.O.H. and Ratnieks, F.L.W. (2009) Multi-level selection for hygienic behaviour in honeybees. *Heredity* 102:609-615.
- Ratnieks, F.L.W. and Carreck, N.L. (2010) Clarity on honey bee collapse?. Science. 327:152-153.
- Ririe, K. M., Rassmussen, R. P., Witwer, C. T. (1997) Product differentiation by analysis of DNA melting curves during the polymerase chain reaction. *Anal. Biochem.* 245:154-160.
- Ritchie, M.E., Phipson, B., Wu, D., Hu, Y., Law C. W., SHI, W., and G. K. Smyth (2015) limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 43(7):e47

- Rothenbuhler, W.C. (1964) Behavior genetics of nest cleaning in honey bees. IV. Responses of F1 and backcross generations to disease-killed brood. *American Zoologist* **4**(**2**):111-123.
- Royet, J. and Finkelstein, R. (1995) Pattern formation in *Drosophila* head development: the role of the *orthodenticle* homeobox gene. *Development* **121**:3561-72.
- Santos, G., Schroeder, A., Goodman, J., Strelets, V., Crosby, M., Thurmond, J., Emmert, D., Gelbart, W., and the FlyBase Consortium (2015) FlyBase: introduction of the *Drosophila melanogaster* Release 6 reference genome assembly and large-scale migration of genome annotations. *Nucleic Acids Research* 43(D1):D690-D697.
- Schmickl, T. and Crailsheim, K. (2007) HoPoMo: A model of honeybee intracolonial population dynamics and resource management. *Ecological Modelling* **204**:219-245.
- Sherman, P., Seeley, T. and Reeve, H. (1998) Parasites, pathogens, and polyandry in honey bees. *The American Naturalist* **151**:392-396.
- Shi, L., Lin, S., Grinberg, Y., Beck, Y., Grozinger, C.M., Robinson, G.E., and Lee T. (2007) Roles of Drosophila Kruppel-homolog 1 in neuronal morphogenesis. *Dev. Neurobiol.* 67(12):1614-1626.
- Shykoff, J. A., and Schmid-Hempel P. (1991) Parasites and the advantage of genetic variability within social insect colonies. *Proceedings: Biological Sciences* **243**(**1306**):55-58.
- Silver, R. A., Whitaker, M., and Bolsover, S. R. (1992) Intracellular ion imaging using fluorescent dyes: artifacts and limits to resolution. *European journal of physiology* **420**:595–602.
- Spivak M., and Downey D. L. (1998) Field assays for hygienic behavior in honey bees (Hymenoptera : Apidae). *Journal of Economic Entomology* **91**:64-70.
- Spivak, M. and Gilliam, M. (1993) Facultative expression of hygienic behaviour of honey bees in relation to disease resistance. *Journal of Apicultural Research* **32(3/4)**:147-157.

- Spivak, M. and Gilliam, M. (1998a) Hygienic behaviour of honey bees and its application for control of brood diseases and Varroa: Part I. hygienic behaviour and resistance to American foulbrood. *Bee World* 79(3):124-134.
- Spivak, M. and Gilliam, M. (1998b) Hygienic behaviour of honey bees and its application for control of brood diseases and Varroa: Part II. studies on hygienic behaviour since Rothenbuhler era. *Bee World* 79(4):169-186.
- Spivak, M. and Reuter, G.S. (2001) Resistance to American foulbrood disease by honey bee colonies *Apis mellifera* bred for hygienic behavior. *Apidologie* **32**:555-565.
- Spivak, M., Masterman, R., Ross, R. and Mesce, K.A. (2003) Hygienic behavior in the honey bee (Apis mellifera L.) and the modulatory role of octopamine. Journal of Neurobiology 55:341-354.
- Stopfer, M., Bhagavan, S., Smith, B. H., and Laurent, G. (1997) Impaired odour discrimination on desynchronization of odour-encoding neural assemblies. *Nature* **390**:70–74.
- Swanson, J. A. I., Torto, B., Kells, S. A., Mesce, K. A., Tumlinson, J. H., and Spivak, M. (2009) Odorants that induce hygienic behavior in honeybees: identification of volatile compounds in chalkbroodinfected honeybee larvae. *Journal of Chemical Ecology* 35:1108-1116.
- Tarpy, D.R. (2003) Genetic diversity within honeybee colonies prevents severe infections and promotes colony growth. *Proceedings: Biological Sciences* 270:99-103.
- Thamm, M., Balfanz, S., Scheiner, R., Baumann, A., and Blenau, W. (2010) Characterization of the 5-HT1A receptor of the honeybee (*Apis mellifera*) and involvement of serotonin in phototactic behavior. *Cell Mol Life Sci* 67:2467–247.
- Tichy, A.L., Ray, A., and J.R. Carlson (2008) A new *Drosophila* POU gene, *pdm3*, acts in odor receptor expression and axon targeting of olfactory neurons. *J. Neurosci.* 28(28):7121-7129.

- Tietjen, G. L., and Moore, R. H. (1972) Some Grubbs-type statistics for the detection of several outliers. *Technometrics* **14(3)**:583-597.
- Toma, D. P., Bloch, G., Moore, D., and Robinson, G. E. (2000) Changes in period mRNA levels in the brain and division of labor in honey bee colonies. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **97(12)**:6914-6919.
- Tsuruda, J. M., Harris, J. W., Bourgeois, L., Danka, R. G., and Hunt, G. J. (2012) High-resolution linkage analyses to identify genes that influence *Varroa* sensitive hygiene behavior in honey bees. *PLoS ONE* **7(11)**:e48276.
- Ugrankar, R., Berglund, E., Akdemir, F., Tran, C., Kim, M.S., Noh, J., Schneider, R., Ebert, B., and Graff J.M. (2015) Drosophila glucome screening identifies Ck1alpha as a regulator of mammalian glucose metabolism. Nat. Commun. 6:7102.
- Warburg, O. and Christian, W. (1942) Isolation and crystallization of enolase. Biochem. Z 310:384-421.
- Watanabe, M.E. (1994) Pollination worries rise as honey bees decline. Science 265:1170.
- Weinstock, G., Robinson, G., Gibbs, R., Worley, K., Evans, J., Maleszka, R, et al. (2006) Insights into social insects from the genome of the honeybee *Apis mellifera*. *Nature (London)* 443:931.
- Wilson-Rich, N., Spivak, M., Fefferman, N.H. and Starks, P.T. (2009) Genetic, individual, and group facilitation of disease resistance in insect societies. *Annu. Rev. Entomol.* 54:405-423.
- Winnebeck, E. C., Millar, C. D., and Warman, G. R. (2010) Why does insect RNA look degraded?. *Journal of Insect science* 10:159.
- Xie, G., Yu, Z., Jia, D., Jiao, R., and Deng W.M. (2014) E(y)1/TAF9 mediates the transcriptional output of Notch signaling in Drosophila. J. Cell Sci. 127(17):3830-3839.

Yokomori, K., Zeidler, M.P., Chen, J.L., Verrijzer, C.P., Mlodzik, M., and Tjian R. (1994) Drosophila TFIIA directs cooperative DNA binding with TBP and mediates transcriptional activation. *Genes Dev.* 8(19):2313-2323.